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Limited 

(Incorporated in Saint Lucia with limited liability) 

ISSUE OF 2 NEW CLASSES OF PERPETUAL CUMULATIVE REDEEMABLE PREFERENCE SHARES 
AS FOLLOWS: 

 
CLASS 

 
NO. OF 

SHARES 
 

 
PRICE PER 

SHARE 

 
YIELD 

 
CALL OPTION 

 
DOLLAR VALUE OF 

SHARES 

H 12,000,000 J$100.00 10.00% 15 Years J$1,200,000,000.00 

I 2,000,000 US$10.00 8.00% 15 Years US$20,000,000.00 

 

For a total aggregate amount of J$1,200,000,000.00 (up-sizeable to 
J$1,600,000,000.000) AND US$20,000,000.00  

all such Preference Shares in the capital of 

Sygnus Credit Investments Limited 

(the “Company” or “SCI”) 

Dated the 13th day of November 2024 

 
A copy of this Prospectus was delivered to the Registrar of Companies for registration pursuant to section 372 of the Companies Act 
and was so registered on the 15th day of November 2024. The Registrar of Companies accepts no responsibility whatsoever for the 
contents of this Prospectus.  A copy of this Prospectus was delivered to the Financial Services Commission for registration pursuant 
to section 26 of the Securities Act and was so registered on 18th day of November 2024. The Financial Services Commission has 
neither approved the issue of this Prospectus nor has the Commission passed upon the accuracy or adequacy of this Prospectus. 
Any representation to the contrary is a criminal offence. 

This Prospectus is intended for use in Jamaica only and shall not be construed as an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy 
nor shall there be any sale of these Preference Shares to any person outside Jamaica.  

The Directors whose names appear in Section 12 accept full responsibility, collectively and individually, for all the information in this 
document relating to the Company and its subsidiaries. The Directors have taken all reasonable care to ensure that, to the best of 
their knowledge and belief, the information given herein or in those portions for which they have particular responsibility, is in 
accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect, in a material way, the import of such information. 

No person is authorized to provide information or to make any representation whatsoever in connection with this Prospectus, which 
is not contained herein. 

Registered Office: McNamara Corporate Services Inc, 20 Micoud Street, Castries, St. Lucia 
Website: www.sygnusgroup.com Email: sci@sygnusgroup.com  
Telephone Number: 876-634-5000 

 

http://www.sygnusgroup.com/
mailto:sci@sygnusgroup.com
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SECTION 1   |   IMPORTANT NOTICE 
 

 

1.1 Unless stated otherwise, terms used in this Prospectus shall have the meanings attributed to them 
in Section 5 - Definitions of this Prospectus.  

1.2 Existing Ordinary Shares of the Company are listed on the Jamaica Stock Exchange (JSE) 
and prospective investors are invited and encouraged to view all trade information relating 
to the Company published on the JSE website at  www.jamstockex.com.    

 
1.3 The Company has issued 3,548,993 cumulative redeemable Preference Shares in two tranches 

with a redemption period of two and three years, as applicable. In a Public Offering for Ordinary 
Shares, the holders of these Preference Shares have the option to convert all the Preference 
Shares plus any accrued and accumulated dividends into common/ordinary shares. The Company 
has also issued 20,000,000 cumulative redeemable Preference Shares in three (3) tranches with 
redemption periods of two and three years, as applicable. 

 
1.4  Investors are also invited to view the FYE 2023 Annual Report for the Company at the 

following websites. 
 

www.sygnusgroup.com 
www.jamstockex.com 

 
1.5 Copies of the Audited Financial Statements and Management Discussion and Analysis 

(“MD&A”) for the Company for the financial year ended June 30, 2024 appear as APPENDIX 
2. 

 
1.6 The signatures of the Directors of the Company appear in Section 18 – Signatures of Directors 

of the Company of this Prospectus. The Directors of the Company are individually and collectively 

responsible for the contents of this Prospectus. To the best of the knowledge and belief of such 

Directors, the information contained in this Prospectus is factually correct and true and no 

information has been omitted that would make any statement in this Prospectus misleading or that 

is likely to otherwise materially affect its interpretation. 

1.7 The Directors of the Company do not warrant or make any representation as to the accuracy of the 
information in this Prospectus as of any date other than the date on which it is dated.  

1.8 This Prospectus is issued by the Company to the public in Jamaica only and is not to be 
construed as making an invitation or offer to persons outside of Jamaica to subscribe for 
any Preference Shares or other securities. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.jamstockex.com/
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SECTION 2   |   KEY DATES 
 

 

2.1 Applications may be made online by following the instructions provided in Appendix 3 at the end of 
this Prospectus. 

2.2 The Invitation will open at 9.00 am on the Opening Date and will close at 4:30 p.m. on the Closing 
Date subject to the right of the Company to: (a) close the Invitation at any time after 9:00 a.m. on 
the Opening Date once the Invitation is fully subscribed, or (b) extend the period during which the 
Invitation shall remain open  for any reason, provided that such period does not extend beyond the 
expiration of 40 days after the publication of this Prospectus for the purposes of section 48 of the 
Companies Act. In the case of the extension of such period or an early closing, notice will be posted 
on the website of the JSE at www.jamstockex.com.  

2.3 The below timetable is indicative, with the Directors of the Company however reserving the right to 
change the dates that the Invitation opens and closes based on market conditions and other 
relevant factors as determined by the Company subject always to statutory and regulatory 
obligations. 

 

Date of Prospectus  November 13, 2024 

Opening Date 9:00 A.M on November 25, 2024 

Closing Date  4:30 P.M. on December 12, 2024 subject to the right of the Company 
to designate an earlier or later date in the circumstances set out in this 
Prospectus. 

Expected dispatch of investor 
statements and any refunds, of 
subscriptions if applicable 

 

Within 10 days of Closing Date 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.jamstockex.com/
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SECTION 3   |   SUMMARY OF KEY INFORMATION 
 

 

3.1 The following summary information is derived from and should be read in conjunction with, and is 
qualified in its entirety by, the full text of this Prospectus, including the Appendices and the Trade 
Information published on the JSE website. 

3.2 Potential investors are advised to read carefully, this entire Prospectus and the Trade Information 
published on the JSE website, before making an investment decision about the transactions herein. 
Each recipient’s attention is specifically drawn to the Disclaimer and Advisory on Forward 
Looking Statements in Section 7 and the Risk Exposure in Section 9 of this Prospectus for 
purposes of determining whether to apply/subscribe for Preference Shares.  

3.3 If you have any questions arising out of this document or if you require any explanations, you should 
consult your stockbroker, licensed investment advisor, attorney-at-law, accountant or other 
professional advisor.  

Issuer: Sygnus Credit Investments Limited 

Issuer Credit Rating: The Issuer has been rated by CariCris, the Caribbean Premier Rating 
Agency with a rating of JmBBB+ (Stable outlook) 

Lead Arranger: Sygnus Capital Limited 

Lead Broker: JMMB Securities Limited (“JMMBSL”) 

Registrar & Paying Agent: Jamaica Central Securities Depository Limited (“JCSD”) 

Instrument: Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares across two (2) classes of 
shares: 

(a) JMD Perpetual Cumulative Redeemable Class H Preference 
Shares (“Class H”) 
(b) USD Perpetual Cumulative Redeemable Class I Preference 
Shares (“Class I”) with Terms of Issue (as applicable) as set forth in 
Section 20 

Currency: (a) Class H – JMD 
(b) Class I – USD 

Issue Price: (a) Class H – J$100.00 per share 
(b) Class I – US$10.00 per share 

Number of Preference Shares: (a) Class H – Up to 12,000,000 shares 
(b) Class I – Up to 2,000,000 shares 

Issue Size: Up to J$1,200,000,000.00 and US$20,000,000.00, across two (2) classes 
of preference shares as follows: 
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(a) Class H – Up to J$1,200,000,000.00 of JMD Preference Shares 
(b) Class I – Up to US$20,000,000.00 of USD Preference Shares 

Term: (a) Class H – Perpetual, subject to call option(s) redeemable after [15] 
Years at the discretion of the issuer 
(b) Class I – Perpetual, subject to call option(s) redeemable after [15] 
Years at the discretion of the issuer 

Dividend Yield: (a) Class H – 10.00% p.a. 
(b) Class I –   8.00% p.a. 

Dividend Frequency and Payment 
Date: 

Classes H & I – Quarterly on a 30/360 day basis 
 

i.         The Board of Directors of the Company will declare 
Dividends quarterly on the [last] Business Day of each of 
the Issuer’s financial quarters commencing March 31st, 
2025 
 

ii.         In the event that the Dividend Payment Date is not a 
Business Day, the dividend payment shall be made on the 
next succeeding Business Day 

 

 
iii.          Dividends shall be paid from the distributable profits of the 

Company  
 

iv.          Dividends shall be declared at the Dividend Rate and such 
date for payment shall follow declaration by the Board of 
Directors of the Company and processing by the Registrar 
engaged by the Company to attend to payments to 
registered holders 

 
The Directors intend to consider the payment of dividends in the first 
instance for the period commencing on the Issue Date and ending March 
31 and thereafter each three (3) month period expiring on [June 30, 
September 30, December 31 and March 31] in each year (“Dividend 
Frequency”). In the event that such date for payment is not a Business 
Day, the dividend payment shall be made on the next succeeding 
Business Day in the respective month. 
 
FURTHER PROVIDED THAT the Company shall not pay any interim 
dividends on the ordinary shares of the Company, if the Company has not 
paid dividends to the Preference Shareholders in accordance with the 
Dividend Rate and Dividend Frequency with respect to any single payment 
period or cumulatively for any number of payment periods. 
 
The Issuer reserves the right to accumulate the unpaid dividends on the 
Preference Shares. For greater certainty, if the preferential dividends are 
not paid in full, they shall continue to accrue and be paid on the date fixed 
for the subsequent quarterly dividend payment date when the Issuer has 
sufficient distributable profits. 
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Minimum Subscription: (a) Class H – 500 JMD Preference Shares  
(b) Class I – 50 USD Preference Shares 

Settlement: All amounts of the Preference Shares subscribed for must be paid for 
in full in cleared funds, at the time of submission of the respective 
Application. 

Withdrawal of Invitation: The Issuer has the right to withdraw the Invitation and provide 
subscribing investors with written notice if the Board of Directors and the 
Arranger deem it appropriate to cancel, withdraw or postpone the 
Invitation at any time during the opening and closing period. 

Rights of Preference Shareholders: Preference Shareholders shall have the following rights: 
(a) Priority of payment to receive all dividends over any other type of 

capital distributions (e.g., ordinary dividends or share buybacks) to 
common equity holders 

(b) Full voting rights on winding up 
(c) Ranking in priority to common equity in the event of a winding up 

Use of Proceeds: The Company intends to use the net proceeds from the issue to: 

(i) Repay approximately US$11.0 million of outstanding debt 
(ii) Pay the perpetual cumulative redeemable preference share 

invitation expenses & Listing Expenses 
(iii) Finance the growth of its investment portfolio by investing in credit 

instruments issued by Medium-Sized Firms. 

ISIN: The Preference Shares will be immobilized and are proposed to be listed 
on the JSE.  ISIN will be provided prior to listing on the JSE 

Intention to List on the JSE: 
The Perpetual Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares will be 
converted on issue to Preference Stock Units, and SCI intends to apply 
to the Jamaica Stock Exchange for the listing on the Exchange of all of 
the Preference Stock Units, and to make such application as soon as 
conveniently possible following the closing of the Invitation and the 
allocation of Preference Shares. However, these statements are not 
to be construed as a guarantee that any of the Preference Stock 
Units will be listed.   

  

Fees and Expenses: The Issuer shall pay all reasonable costs and expenses associated with 
the execution of this transaction. The Directors believe that the expenses 
associated with the Invitation will be approximately 5% of the maximum 
Invitation Amount. This figure is inclusive of the Lead Arranger and 
Broker’s fees, legal fees, accounting fees, listing fees and marketing 
expenses. 

Net Proceeds: The Company expects to receive the equivalent of approximately 
US$26,125,000.00 from the issue of the cumulative redeemable 
preference shares after deducting Fees and Expenses. 
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Taxation: Subject to applicable tax laws including withholding taxes. Investors 
will be responsible for filing their own taxes. 

Governing Law: Laws of Jamaica. 

Timetable: 

 

The below timetable is indicative, with the Directors of the Company 
however reserving the right to change the dates that the Invitation 
remains open based on market conditions and other relevant factors. 

i. Publishing of Prospectus – November 18, 2024 
ii. The Opening Date – 9:00am on November 25, 2024 
iii. The Closing Date (completed and signed Application Forms to 

be received by) - 4:30pm on December 12, 2024 

Announcement of basis of 
allotment: 

A notice confirming the preliminary basis of allotment will be posted on 
the website of the Jamaica Stock Exchange (www.jamstockex.com) 
within six (6) business days after the Closing Date (or the extended 
Closing Date, as the case may be). 

Allotment: Within twenty-one days (21) of the Closing Date; subject to the 
Preference Shares being admitted for listing by the Board of the JSE on 
the Main Market of the JSE, the Preference Shares will be allocated 
based on the time of receipt of the subscription, on a “first come first 
served” basis.  
 
If the Invitation is oversubscribed, the Preference Shares will be allocated 
on a pro rata basis, in which event, Applicants may be allotted fewer 
Preference Shares than were the subject of their Applications. 

Application for Listing: As indicated in this Section 3, the  Company intends to apply to have the 
new Preference Shares issued as a result of this invitation listed on the 
Jamaica Stock Exchange and intends to make such application to the 
JSE within fifteen (15) days after the Preference Shares have been 
allotted. 

Expected Listing of the Preference 
Shares if the Offer is successful 

No more than five (5) Business Days after the Jamaica Stock Exchange 
approves the admission of the Preference Shares to the Main Market. 

Refunds: Where applicable, it is expected that refunds of subscriptions will be 
made to Applicants within 10 days of the Closing Date. 

Application Procedure: See Section 19 for details. 

 

Note: The above summary information is derived from, and should be read in conjunction with, the full text 
of this Prospectus. The summary does not contain all the information that may be important to prospective 
Investors. 

 

http://www.jamstockex.com/
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SECTION 4   |   CHAIRMAN’S MESSAGE TO PROSPECTIVE 
INVESTORS 
 

 

Chairman’s Letter to Prospective Investors  

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Sygnus Credit Investments, I am pleased to extend to Prospective 
Investors an invitation to subscribe for Perpetual Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares in the 
Company on the terms and conditions set out in this Prospectus. We thank you and we are grateful to all 
our shareholders, partners and team members that have supported us thus far on this exciting pioneering 
journey. 

 
Key Achievements 
 
SCI’s commitment to facilitating resilient growth across the Caribbean region through its significantly 
expanded private credit platform has led to a continuing positive trajectory, which is reflected in the group’s 
financial results. For the FYE June 2024, Net profits grew 17.3% to a record US$6.03 million, total 
investment income grew 13.6% to a record US$10.10 million, and portfolio investments grew 24.1% to a 
record US$188.05 million. This includes a US$30.29 million fair value assessment of SCI’s investment in 
the Puerto Rico Credit Fund (PRCF), up from US$24.88 million over the same period in 2023. This was 
due in part to SCI increasing its stake to 95.6% in December 2023, paired with the record deployment and 
profitability of Acrecent Financial Corporation (AFC), the wholly owned Puerto Rico business held by The 
Group’s subsidiary.  

Since the first payment in October 2018, the Company has consistently paid bi-annual dividends to its 
shareholders. SCI has distributed a total of US$13.49 million or 22.2% of its share capital on twelve 
separate occasions. This speaks to the Company’s dedication to its mission of delivering value and returns 
to investors. Furthermore, approximately US$833.0 thousand in shares have been repurchased under the 
ongoing share buyback program. Launched in June 2023, 136,525 USD ordinary shares and 10,274,842 
JMD ordinary shares have been repurchased via the three-year program. In addition, SCI has made all 
scheduled preferred dividends to preference shareholders, up to the date of this Prospectus. 

 
Proactive Risk Management 
 
Minimizing the impact of business and portfolio risk has been a key tenet in SCI’s management strategy 
since inception. To achieve this, the Company has maintained a lowly leveraged balance sheet and actively 
pursued portfolio diversification, all whilst modeling global best practices. This concentration on credit risk 
management has resulted in a portfolio loss ratio of <1% of capital deployed and a Net Debt to Equity ratio 
of 0.92x. This is notwithstanding exogenous shocks related to the Covid-19 pandemic and resulting 
elevated high-interest rate environment. Diversification efforts have led to effective territorial exposure 
across eight (8) territories in the Caribbean region and a myriad of flexible financing options. SCI has 
provided growth solutions for middle-market companies across the Jamaican, Spanish and Dutch markets. 

 
Sustainable Growth 
 
Given the resilient growth of SCI’s private credit portfolio which has fueled seven successful years of 
operations, SCI has already begun executing its strategy to continue scaling its private credit business from 
the solid foundation laid during these first seven years. In this regard, SCI has built a robust regional private 
credit platform and has advanced the process to launch new financing solutions across the Spanish, English 
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and Dutch-speaking Caribbean territories. As part of this process, SCI has collectively targeted at least 
US$300.0 million in new originations, and is already making good progress on this front, but requires 
additional financing to meet the demand for its flexible debt financing solutions and to finance its large 
pipeline of originations, particularly to Jamaican opportunities and Jamaican led middle-market businesses. 
The Group has entered the final stages of approval with one of its international financing partners to diversify 
its funding base, as it seeks to secure at least US$100.0 million in medium term financing. 

SCI has enhanced its non-interest income revenue streams to buttress its net interest income on its path 
towards exceeding a targeted US$12.5 million in total core revenues and generating a return on equity of 
at least 10% on a consistent basis which will enable the Company to grow and maintain its dividend yield 
to above 5% on an ongoing basis, all to be achieved within the next three years. In keeping with its 
sustainable business model, SCI will continue to maintain a robust balance sheet with debt/equity below 
2.0x, thus allowing the business to remain nimble and able to take advantage of opportunities that may 
arise in different market conditions. To assist with growing and expanding the business within the next three 
years, SCI is seeking to raise additional “Dry Powder” in the form of preference shares. Thus, this Perpetual 
Cumulative Redeemable Preference Share Invitation represents a key initiative on a multi-step journey 
within alternative investments to continue deepening and expanding the Caribbean private credit 
ecosystem, with a particular focus on opportunities within the Jamaican economic space. 

 
Invitation to Participate 
 
We are inviting shareholders, stakeholders and the general public to participate in SCI’s resilient growth 
over the three years, as we seek to enhance value for stakeholders by leveraging key international 
partnerships and regional relationships across the Caribbean middle-market. 

 
Yours sincerely, 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Linval Freeman 
Chairman of the Board 
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SECTION 5   |   DEFINITIONS 
 

 

5.1 The following definitions apply throughout this Prospectus unless the context otherwise requires: 

 

Word or Phrase Definition 
 
Additional Invitation 
 
 
Applicant 

 
The invitation to subscribe for Perpetual Cumulative 
Redeemable Preference Shares in the capital of the 
Company, issued by the Company, on the terms and 
conditions set out in this Prospectus (herein referred to as the 
“Invitation”). 
A person (being an individual or a body corporate) being a 
member of the general public, who submits an Application. 

Application Means the application to be made by all Applicants who wish 
to make an offer to subscribe for Preference Shares in the 
Invitation, based on instructions set forth in Appendix 3. 

Application List The application list in respect of the Invitation. 
Arranger 
Articles 

The Lead Arranger 
The Articles of Incorporation of the Company. 

Board of Directors of the Company OR 
the Directors of the Company 

The Board of Directors of the Company whose signatures 
appear in Section 18. 

Company or Issuer or SCI Sygnus Credit Investments Limited (an international business 
company established under the laws of St. Lucia) 

Closing Date The date on which the Invitation closes, being 4:30 pm on 
December 12, 2024, subject to the right of the Company to 
shorten or extend the period during which the Invitation will 
remain open, in the circumstances set out in this Prospectus. 

Corporate Services Agreement An agreement for the provision of services including general 
corporate secretarial, financial, accounting, coordinating 
oversight of legal matters and other administrative functions. 

Dry Powder Capital that is available for investing in Medium-Sized Firms 
which may comprise of cash held in bank accounts, cash 
equivalents held in short term marketable instruments and 
undrawn medium-term credit facilities. 

FSC The Financial Services Commission of Jamaica. 
  
Invitation Price or Prices Prices are as follows: 

- Class H - J$100.00 per share 
- Class I - US$10.00 per share 

Investment Manager Sygnus Capital Limited 
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JCSD 
 
 
 

Jamaica Central Securities Depository Limited, a wholly 
owned subsidiary of the JSE, incorporated under the laws of 
Jamaica to provide depository and settlement services for 
securities traded electronically on the floor of the Jamaica 
Stock Exchange using a book entry system. 
 

JSE The Jamaica Stock Exchange 
JSE website The website of the Jamaica Stock Exchange at  

www.jamstockex.com 
 

Latest Audited Accounts The Audited Accounts of the Company for the FYE June 30, 
2024, posted on the JSE website, a copy of which appears as 
APPENDIX 2. 

Lead Arranger Sygnus Capital Limited 
Lead Broker  JMMB Securities Limited, the Broker engaged by the 

Company to assist with implementation of the Invitation.  
Material Adverse Event Means an event beyond the reasonable control of the 

Investment Manager including without limitation any Act of 
God, war, strike, lockout, industrial action, lightning, fire, 
earthquake, flood, storm, hurricane, epidemic or material 
adverse change in law. 

Preference Shares The Preference Shares in the capital of the Company made 
available for subscription pursuant to this Prospectus as 
described herein. 

Selling Agent 
 

A stockbroker approved by the Lead Broker to assist with the 
implementation of the Invitation. 

Special Share 
 

The one special-rights redeemable preference share of               
US$1.00 par value in the capital of the Company held by 
Sygnus Capital Group Limited. 

Sygnus Capital Group Limited or SCG Sygnus Capital Group Limited, an international business 
company incorporated under the laws of Saint Lucia and 
having its registered office at 20 Micoud Street, Castries, 
Saint Lucia 

 

   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.jamstockex.com/
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SECTION 6   |   PROFESSIONAL ADVISORS TO THE   
INVITATION 
 

Lead Arranger  Sygnus Capital Limited 

Unit 28  
80LMR 
80 Lady Musgrave Road  
Kingston 10 
Jamaica 
Tel: 876- 420-3387 
Contact Person: 
Steven Davis, AVP- Investment Banking 

 

Lead Broker  JMMB Securities Limited 
(“JMMBSL”) 

6 Haughton Terrace  
Kingston 10 
Jamaica 
Contact Person: 
Karl Townsend 
Chief Country Officer, Capital Markets 
876 998 JMMB (5662) 

 

 

Registrar and Transfer 
Agent 

Jamaica Central Securities 
Depository Limited 

40 Harbour Street 
Kingston 
Jamaica 
Tel: 876-967-3271 
Contact Person: 
Tameika Ricketts 

 

Auditors KPMG 

Suite No. 2 
Rodney Bayside Building 
Rodney Bay, Gros Islet 
Saint Lucia 
Tel: 246-434-3900 
Email: ecinfo@kpmg.lc  
P.O. Box GI 2171 
Gros Islet LC 01 101 
Saint Lucia 

 

Legal Advisors to the 
Issuer 

Patterson Mair Hamilton 

Temple Court                         
85 Hope Road             
Kingston 6                    
Jamaica 
Tel: 876.920.4000 
Contact Persons: 
Arthur Hamilton/Kimberly 
HoSue 

 

 

mailto:ecinfo@kpmg.com
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SECTION 7   |   DISCLAIMER AND ADVISORY ON FORWARD   
                          LOOKING STATEMENTS 
 

 
7.1 Neither the FSC nor any Governmental agency or regulatory authority in Jamaica has 

made any determination on the accuracy or adequacy of this Prospectus. 
 
7.2       If you are in doubt about the contents of this Prospectus, or have any queries about any 

information contained herein, you should consult your stockbroker, securities dealer, 
investment adviser, bank manager, attorney-at-law, professional accountant or other 
professional adviser. 

 

a) This Prospectus has been reviewed and approved by the Directors of SCI and they collectively 
and individually accept full responsibility for the accuracy of the information given herein and 
confirm that, after having made all reasonable enquiries, and to the best of their knowledge and 
belief, (i) the information is true and accurate in all material respects and is not misleading in any 
material respect, (ii) any opinions, predictions or intentions expressed herein on the part of SCI 
are honestly held or made and are not misleading in any material respect, (iii) that all proper 
inquiries have been made to ascertain and to verify the foregoing, and (iv) this Prospectus does 
not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or fail to state a material fact necessary in 
order to make the statements herein, in the light of the circumstances under which they are 
made, not misleading. 

 

b) Each Applicant acknowledges and agrees that (i) they have received and have been afforded a 
meaningful opportunity to review all additional information considered by such Applicant to be 
necessary to verify the accuracy of the information contained in this Prospectus, (ii) such 
Applicant has not relied on SCI, the Investment Manager, any of the Lead Arranger or the Lead 
Broker, the legal or other professional advisors to SCI or any persons affiliated with the 
Investment Manager in connection with the Applicant’s investigation of the accuracy of such 
information or investment decision, and (iii) no person has been authorized to give information or 
to make any representation concerning SCI or the Invitation comprised in this Prospectus or to 
provide information or to make any representation whatsoever in connection with this Prospectus 
(other than as contained in this Prospectus and information given by duly authorized officers and 
employees of the Investment Manager in connection with the Applicants’ verification of the 
information contained in this Prospectus) and that, if given or made, such other information or 
representation should not be relied upon as having been authorized by SCI or the Investment 
Manager.  

 

c) You should not subscribe for any of the Preference Shares unless you have received and read or 
had the opportunity to read this Prospectus in full. Investors are urged to review the Risk Factors 
in Section 9 of this Prospectus. Any decision to invest in the Preference Shares should be based 
on consideration of this Prospectus, as a whole, including any document incorporated therein by 
reference. The Preference Shares are available for subscription or sale only in Jamaica. No 
action has been taken to register or qualify the Preference Shares for subscription or sale outside 
Jamaica. The Prospectus does not constitute, and may not be used for the purposes of, an offer 
or solicitation to anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is not authorised, or 



SYGNUS CREDIT INVESTMENT LIMITED  |  SCI Perpetual Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares PROSPECTUS 
 

 
 

 

14 
 

to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation. The distribution of this 
Prospectus and the invitation with respect to the Preference Shares in certain jurisdictions may 
be restricted by law and, accordingly, persons into whose possession this Prospectus may come 
are required to inform themselves about, and to observe, such restrictions. 

 

d) Save for the historical financial information relating to the Company presented by the Latest 
Audited Accounts, certain material in this Prospectus or referred to herein may contain forward-
looking statements including but not limited to statements of expectations, future plans or future 
prospects, and financial projections.  Forward-looking statements are statements that are not 
about historical facts and speak only as of the date they are made. Forward-looking statements 
are based on certain assumptions and estimates made by the Company in light of the experience 
and perception of historical trends, current conditions, expected future developments, including 
projected growth in the credit industry, and other factors we believe are appropriate and 
reasonable in the circumstances, but there can be no assurance that such assumptions and 
estimates will prove to be correct. Although the Board of Directors of the Company believes that 
in making any such statements its expectations are based on reasonable assumptions, such 
statements may be influenced by factors that could cause actual outcomes and results to be 
different or materially different from those projected. Prospective investors in the Company are 
cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as 
of the dates on which they have been made. Future events or circumstances could cause actual 
results to differ or differ materially from historical or anticipated results. 

 

e) Many factors could cause the Company’s actual results, level of activity, performance or 
achievements or future events or developments to differ materially from those expressed or 
implied by the forward-looking statements, including, without limitation, the factors, which are 
discussed in greater detail in the “Risk Factors” section of this Prospectus. 
 
 

f) Although the Company believes that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking 
information are reasonable, it can give no assurance that such expectations will prove to have 
been correct. The purpose of the forward-looking statements is to provide the reader with 
a description of management’s expectations regarding the Company’s performance and may not 
be appropriate for other purposes. Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking 
statements made herein. Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties and other factors, which may cause actual results to differ materially from those 
anticipated in such forward-looking statements. Unless otherwise stated, the forward-looking 
statements contained in this Prospectus are made as of the date of this Prospectus. 
 
 

g) Forward-looking statements are subject to numerous risks and uncertainties. Once this 
Prospectus has been signed by or on behalf of the Company, the Company undertakes no 
obligation to update publicly or revise any of the forward-looking statements in light of new 
information or future events, including changes in the Company's financial or regulatory position, 
or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events (subject to any legal or regulatory 
requirements for such disclosure to be made). There are important factors that could cause actual 
results to differ or differ materially from those in the forward-looking statements, certain of which 
are beyond the Company’s control. These factors include, without limitation, economic, social and 
other conditions prevailing both within and outside of Jamaica. 
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h) All phases of our business are subject to important uncertainties, risks and other influences, 
certain of which factors are beyond the Company’s control. Any one of these factors, or a 
combination of them, could cause actual results to differ materially from those in forward-looking 
statements. These factors include, without limitation, the following:  

 

a. economic, social and other conditions in any jurisdiction in which the Company may 
invest or operate, including actual rates of economic growth in such economies, local, 
regional or global instability, interest rate or exchange rate volatility;  

 

b. adverse climatic events and natural disasters; 

 

c. the Company’s ability to gain access to capital financing at an acceptable cost, or 
business opportunities that meet the Company’s investment criteria; 

 

d. changes in regulatory policy adversely affecting the business model expected to be 
employed by the Company; 

 

e. any other factor(s) negatively impacting on the realization of the assumptions on which 
the Company’s financial projections are based; and 

 

f. other factors identified in this Prospectus. 

 
7.3 We caution that the foregoing list of risk factors is not exhaustive and other factors not set out 

above could also adversely affect our results. When relying on our forward-looking statements to 
make decisions with respect to the Company, Applicants and others should carefully consider the 
foregoing factors and other uncertainties and potential events. Once this Prospectus has been 
signed by or on behalf of the Company, the Company undertakes no obligation to update publicly 
or revise any of the forward-looking statements in light of new information or future events, 
including changes in the Company’s anticipated financial or actual or anticipated regulatory 
position, or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events. 

 

SECTION 8   |   THE INVITATION  
____________________________________________________________________________________ 

 
8.1 The Company invites the public to subscribe for up to 14,000,000 Perpetual Cumulative 

Redeemable Preference Shares in the capital of the Company as under, subject to the terms and 
conditions of this Prospectus. 
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Issuer: Sygnus Credit Investments Limited 

Issuer Credit Rating: The Issuer has been rated by CariCris, the Caribbean Premier 
Rating Agency with a rating of JmBBB+ (Stable outlook) 

Instrument: Perpetual Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares across 
two (2) classes of shares: 
(a) JMD Perpetual Cumulative Redeemable Class H Preference 

Shares (“Class H”) 
(b) USD Perpetual Cumulative Redeemable Class I Preference 

Shares (“Class I”) 

Currency: (a) Class H - JMD 
(b) Class I – USD 

Invitation Price/Issue Price: (a) Class H – J$100.00 per share 
(b) Class I – US$10.00 per share 

Number of Preference Shares: (a) Class H – Up to 12,000,000 shares 
(b) Class I – Up to 2,000,000 shares 

Issue Size: Up to J$1,200,000,000.00 and US$20,000,000.00, in two (2) 
classes of preference shares as follows: 

(a) Class H – Up to J$1,200,000,000.00 of JMD Preference 
Shares 

(b) Class I – Up to US$20,000,000.00 of USD Preference 
Shares 
OR 

In the event of an upsize up to J$1,600,000,000.00 and 
US$20,000,000.00 across two (2) classes of preference shares 
as follows: 

• Class H – Up to J$1,600,000.00 of JMD Preference 
Shares 

• Class I – Up to US$20,000,000.00 of USD Preference 
Shares 

Term: (a) Class H – Perpetual, subject to call option(s) redeemable 
after 15 Years at the discretion of the issuer 

(b) Class I – Perpetual, subject to call option(s) redeemable 
after 15 Years at the discretion of the issuer 

Dividend Yield: (a) Class H – 10.00% p.a. 
(b) Class I – 8.00% p.a. 

Dividend Frequency and 
payment date: 

Classes H & I – Quarterly on a 30/360 day basis 
 

v. The Board of Directors of the Company will declare 
Dividends quarterly on the [last] Business Day of 
each of the Issuer’s financial quarters commencing 
March 31st, 2025 

vi.         In the event that the Dividend Payment Date is not a 
Business Day, the dividend payment shall be made 
on the next succeeding Business Day 

vii.      Dividends shall be paid from the distributable profits of 
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the Company  
viii.     Dividends shall be declared at the Dividend Rate and 

such date for payment shall follow declaration by the 
Board of Directors of the Company and processing by 
the Registrar engaged by the Company to attend to 
payments to registered holders 

 
The Directors intend to consider the payment of dividends in the 
first instance for the period commencing on the Issue Date and 
ending March 31 and thereafter each three (3) month period 
expiring on [June 30, September 30, December 31 and March 31] 
in each year (“Dividend Frequency”). In the event that such date 
for payment is not a Business Day, the dividend payment shall be 
made on the next succeeding Business Day in the respective 
month. 
FURTHER PROVIDED THAT the Company shall not pay any 
interim dividends on the ordinary shares of the Company, if the 
Company has not paid dividends to the Preference Shareholders 
in accordance with the Dividend Rate and Dividend Frequency 
with respect to any single payment period or cumulatively for any 
number of payment periods. 
 
The Issuer reserves the right to accumulate the unpaid dividends 
on the Preference Shares. For greater certainty, if the preferential 
dividends are not paid in full, they shall continue to accrue and be 
paid on the date fixed for the subsequent quarterly dividend 
payment date when the Issuer has sufficient distributable profits. 
 

Minimum Subscription: (a) Class H – 500 JMD Preference Shares and 
multiples of 100 Preference Shares 

(b) Class I – 50 USD Preference Shares and multiples 
of 10 Preference Shares 

Settlement: All amounts of the Preference Shares subscribed for must 
be paid for in full in cleared funds, at the time of submission 
of the respective Application. 

Withdrawal of Invitation: The Issuer has the right to withdraw the Invitation and 
provide subscribing investors with written notice if the 
Board of Directors and the Arranger deem it appropriate to 
cancel, withdraw or postpone the Invitation at any time 
during the opening and closing period. 

Rights of Preference 
Shareholders: 

Preference Shareholders shall have the following rights: 

(a) Priority of payment to receive all dividends over any other 
type of capital distributions (e.g., ordinary dividends or 
share buybacks) to common equity holders 

(b) Full voting rights on winding up 
(c) Ranking in priority to common equity in the event of a 

winding up 
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Use of Proceeds: The Company intends to use the net proceeds from the issue to: 

I. Repay approximately US$11.0 million of outstanding debt 
II. Pay the perpetual cumulative redeemable preference 

share invitation expenses & Listing Expenses 
III. Finance the growth of its investment portfolio by investing 

in credit instruments issued by Medium-Sized Firms. 
 

ISIN: The Preference Shares will be immobilized and are 
proposed to be listed on the JSE 

Intention to List on The 
JSE: 

The Preference Shares will be converted on issue to 
Preference Stock Units, and SCI intends to apply to the 
Jamaica Stock Exchange for the listing on the Exchange of 
all of the Preference Stock Units, and to make such 
application as soon as conveniently possible following the 
closing of the Invitation and the allocation of Preference 
Shares. However, these statements are not to be construed 
as a guarantee that any of the Preference Stock Units will 
be listed.   

Fees and Expenses: The Issuer shall pay all reasonable costs and expenses 
associated with the execution of this transaction. The 
Directors believe that the expenses associated with the 
Invitation will be approximately 5% of the maximum 
Invitation Amount. This figure is inclusive of the Lead 
Arranger and Broker’s fees, legal fees, accounting fees, 
listing fees and marketing expenses. 

Net Proceeds: The Company expects to receive the equivalent of 
approximately US$26,125,000.00 from the perpetual 
cumulative redeemable preference shares after deducting 
Fees and Expenses. 

Taxation: Subject to applicable tax laws including withholding taxes. 
Investors will be responsible for filing their own taxes. 

Governing Law: Laws of Jamaica 

Timetable: 

 

The below timetable is indicative, with the Directors of the 
Company however reserving the right to change the dates 
that the Invitation remains open based on market conditions 
and other relevant factors. 

i. Distribution of Prospectus –November 18, 2024 
ii         The Opening Date – 9:00am on November 25, 2024 
iii        The Closing Date (completed and signed Application 

Forms to be received by) - 4:30pm on December 12, 
2024 
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Announcement of basis 
of allotment: 

A notice confirming the preliminary basis of allotment will be 
posted on the website of the Jamaica Stock Exchange 
(www.jamstockex.com) within six (6) business days after 
the Closing Date (or the extended Closing Date, as the 
case may be). 

Allotment: Within twenty-one days (21) of the Closing Date; subject to 
the Preference Shares being admitted for listing by the 
Board of the JSE on the Main Market of the JSE, the 
Preference Shares will be allocated based on the time of 
receipt of the subscription, on a “first come first served” 
basis.  

If the Invitation is oversubscribed, the Preference Shares 
will be allocated on a pro rata basis, in which event, 
Applicants may be allotted fewer Preference Shares than 
were the subject of their Applications.  

Application for Listing: The Company intends to apply to have the new Preference 
Shares issued as a result of this invitation listed on the 
Jamaica Stock Exchange and intends to make such 
application to the JSE within fifteen (15) days after the 
shares have been allotted. 

Expected Listing of the 
Preference Shares if the 
Invitation is successful 

No more than five (5) Business Days after the Jamaica 
Stock Exchange approves the admission of the Preference 
Shares to the Main Market. 

Refunds: Where applicable, it is expected that refunds of 
subscriptions will be returned to the Lead Broker, JMMB 
Securities Limited within 10 days of the Closing Date. 

Application Procedure: See Section 19 for details. 

 

8.2 The Company invites the public to subscribe for Preference Shares in the capital of the Company 
as under, subject to the terms and conditions of this Prospectus. 

 

8.3 Issued Shares at the date of this Prospectus. (Issued ordinary, special and preference before and 
after/only preference shares will change) 

 

Description Number of Shares 

Issued and fully paid Ordinary Shares 590,975,463 

Issued Preference Shares 23,548,993 

Total 614,524,456 

http://www.jamstockex.com/
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8.4 Total Issued Preference Shares in the event that the Invitation is fully subscribed. 

 

Description Number of Shares 

Issued Preference Shares 23,548,993 

Issued Preference Shares (New) 14,000,000 

Total 37,548,993 

8.5 The Preference Shares are priced at the Invitation Prices stipulated below: 

Class H - J$100.00 per share 
Class I - US$10.00 per share 

     

8.6 The Application List will open at 9.00 a.m. on November 25, 2024 (the “Opening Date”) and will 
close on  December 12, 2024 at 4.30 p.m., (the “Closing Date”) subject to the Company’s right to 
close the Application List at any time without notice, if Applications have been received for the full 
amounts of the Preference Shares, the subject of the Invitation. Applications are due within the 
period commencing with Opening Date and ending on the Closing Date. 

8.7 Subject to the provisions in this Prospectus, the Company reserves the right to extend the period 
during which the Invitation will remain open. Allocations may be on a prorated basis, per category 
of Preference Shares, 21 days after the Invitation is closed, and an announcement will be made 
informing of the allocation of Shares to successful Applicants.  

8.8 All Applications must be submitted electronically via JMMB’s Moneyline™ platform by 
logging on to the following websites:  

(a) JMMB Clients - https://moneyline.jmmb.com/personal/login.php 
(b) Non-JMMB clients - https://moneylineipo.jmmb.com.  
(c) See Appendix 3 - JMMB’s Moneyline Application Procedures for full details 

8.9 Each Person who wishes to submit an Application and who does not have a stock brokerage 
account (whether with JMMB Securities or otherwise) or does not have a JMMB account may call 
JMMB’s Client Care Centre at 876-998-JMMB (5662), between the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 
p.m. for assistance in opening a stock brokerage account with JMMB Securities or a JMMB 
account. Interested Applicants may also open a JMMB account online at 
https://jm.jmmb.com/account-opening-personal. For non-JMMB Clients, please refer to the 
section “How to Apply – Non-JMMB Clients” contained on pages 81-84. 

 
8.10 The Invitation will close at 4:30 pm on the Closing Date subject to the right of the Company to: (a) 

close the Invitation at any time after it opens at 9:00 am on the Opening Date once the Invitation 
is fully subscribed; or (b) extend the period during which the Invitation will remain open for any 
reason, provided that such period does not extend beyond the expiration of 40 days after the 
publication of this Prospectus for the purposes of section 48 of the Companies Act.  In the case of 
the extension of such period or an early closing, notice will be posted on the website of the JSE at 
www.jamstockex.com.    

 

 

https://moneyline.jmmb.com/personal/login.php
https://moneylineipo.jmmb.com/
https://jm.jmmb.com/account-opening-personal
http://www.jamstockex.com/
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Use of proceeds:  

8.11 The Company intends to:  

(i) To repay approximately US$11,000,000.00 of the Company’s outstanding debt 
obligations.  

(ii) use the proceeds of the Preference Shares to pay its capital raising and Listing Expenses 
(estimated at US$1,375,000.00) 

(iii) Invest and hold the net funds raised from the Preference Share Invitation in customized 
credit instruments issued primarily by Medium-Sized Firms, across a broad range of 
sectors, including but not limited to manufacturing, distribution, financial services, energy, 
industrial, construction, transportation, infrastructure and business services. The 
Company expects to earn income from interest paid on the credit instruments comprised 
in its investment portfolio. 

 

 

SECTION 9   |   RISK EXPOSURES 
 

 

9.1 In addition to other information set forth in this Prospectus, Investors should, before subscribing 
for Preference Shares in SCI, consider carefully the risks described below. These risks are not 
the only ones facing Investors. Additional risks not presently known to the Directors, or that the 
Directors may presently consider to be immaterial, may also impair the Company’s operations. 

 

9.2 This Prospectus also contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. 
The Company’s actual results could differ materially from those anticipated as a result of certain 
factors, including the risks faced by SCI described below and elsewhere in this Prospectus. You 
should read Section 1 entitled “Important Notice” and Section 7 entitled “Disclaimer – Forward 
Looking Statements” for more information. 

(i) Risk in Relation to Preference Share Issue 
 
9.3 The subscription price for the Preference Shares has been determined by the Directors on the 

advice of Sygnus Capital Limited as Lead Arranger. The Preference Share price should not be 
taken to be indicative of the market price of the Preference Shares in the event the Shares are 
listed on the Main Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange. No assurance can be given regarding 
active or sustained trading in the Preference Shares of the Company or regarding the price at 
which the Preference Shares will be traded in the event of listing of the Preference Shares on the 
Main Market. 
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(ii) Share Price Fluctuations 
 

9.4 The trading price of the Preference Shares may fluctuate significantly after the Preference Share 
Issue and may continue to do so in the future. Some of the reasons for fluctuations in the price of 
the Preference Shares include but are not limited to: 

• Announcements of developments related to the Company’s business; 
• The issue of additional Shares by the Company from time to time; 
• announcements concerning or affecting credit instruments in the 

Company’s investment portfolio; 
• General conditions in the economy or the industries in which SCI have 

made investments; 
• Changes in the law regarding several matters including but not limited 

to taxation and the private credit industry; 
• Changes to the JSE Rules. 

 

9.4.1 In addition, prices on the stock market may be particularly subject to volatility. In many cases, the 
fluctuations may be unrelated to the operating performance of the affected companies. As a 
result, the price of the Preference Shares could fluctuate in the future without regard to operating 
performance. 

(iii) Changes in Government Policies 
 

9.5 Governments in various countries in which the Company invests, may from time to time affect 
macroeconomic conditions through fiscal and monetary policies or changes in regulations, which 
may have an adverse impact on the credit markets and the performance of the Company. 

(iv) Risk relating to Marketability of the Preference Shares 
 
9.6 The Preference Shares, if listed on the Main Market of the Jamaica Stock Exchange, may not be 

readily saleable and shareholders who may want to “cash-out” may not be able to do so or may 
only be able to do so at a discount. 

(v) Risks of hurricane, fire and other Acts of God 
 

9.7 Catastrophic events affecting Caribbean territories, such as hurricanes and earthquakes, could 
impact generally on economic activity in such territories and more specifically on some of the 
companies in whose securities the Company may invest from time to time. 

(vi) Taxation Risks 
 

9.8 The Company is an International Business Company (“IBC”) incorporated in Saint Lucia prior to 
December 1, 2018. As such, effective July 1, 2021, the Company became subject to corporate 
income tax (CIT) in Saint Lucia at the rate of 30% on income derived from sources in Saint Lucia, 
less allowable deductions. At time of issue of this Prospectus, distributions (dividends) are 
exempt from income tax in Saint Lucia, and for so long as this remains the position, regardless of 
where the recipient of the dividend is resident for tax purposes, there would be no tax withheld in 
Saint Lucia on dividends paid to that recipient. Further, if the recipient of the dividend is a resident 
of a CARICOM member state that is a signatory to the CARICOM Double Taxation Treaty 
(CARICOM DTT), that recipient would not be subject to income tax on the dividend received from 
the Company in their country of residence. 
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9.9 At time of issue of this Prospectus no withholding tax applies in Saint Lucia on payments of 
income that are exempt under the Income Tax Act of Saint Lucia (such as dividends) or on 
payments made toward expenses incurred to generate income from a source outside Saint Lucia. 
Otherwise, withholding tax may apply.  

 

9.10 At time of issue of this Prospectus income deemed to be derived from a foreign source (income 
from sources outside of Saint Lucia) is not subject to CIT in Saint Lucia unless the Company (and 
this includes an IBC) fails to meet its economic substance test. If the Company fails to meet the 
economic substance test, the income deemed as foreign source will become taxable in Saint 
Lucia at 30% (except income received from CARICOM member states signatory to the CARICOM 
DTT, provided SCI is a tax resident of Saint Lucia). The economic substance requirement is to 
ensure that the Company has adequate economic presence in Saint Lucia to carry out its 
activities in Saint Lucia. 

 

9.11 If all Board Meetings are held outside Jamaica and all key policy decisions affecting the Company 
are made at such Board Meetings, the Company should not be treated as resident in Jamaica for 
tax purposes (based on the legal positions obtaining at time of issue of this Prospectus). If the 
Company does not have a fixed place of business in Jamaica through which its business is wholly 
or partly carried on (such as place of management, office, branch etc.), it would not be regarded 
as being subject to CIT in Jamaica.  

 

9.12 The Company’s operation is structured with the objective that it will not be treated, under 
Jamaican tax law, as resident, or as carrying on business, in Jamaica. If the Company is deemed 
to be resident, or carrying on business, in Jamaica it would be liable for Jamaican CIT which 
could materially affect its operation and profitability. 

 
(vii) Credit & Counterparty Risks 

 

9.13 The Company’s assets are represented substantially by investments in credit instruments issued 
by other companies. This creates special risks associated with the creditworthiness of such 
companies. For instance, a debtor could default, its credit worthiness may deteriorate or be 
downgraded by credit rating agencies; these events could materially and adversely affect the 
value of the relevant credit instrument. In addition, there are documentary risks and settlement 
risks in the closing of transactions. 
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9.14 The Company will manage the foregoing risks by: 
 

(a) diversifying its holdings across various issuers to limit exposure to any single issuer; 
 

(b) restricting investment to credit instruments which are within limits and ranges set by the 
Investment and Risk Management Committee (“IRMC”); 

 
(c) carrying out extensive financial due diligence on companies in which it invests; 

 

(d) active monitoring of investments through financial covenants, interim financial reviews, 
collateral review, annual review of the businesses in which an investment was made and 
acquiring board representation where appropriate; and 

 

(e) prudently managing credit spreads according to the changing risks of the underlying 
credit instruments based on issuers’ financial positions. 

 

(viii) Foreign Currency Risk 
 

9.15 The Company will be exposed to the risk that the value of the future cash flows from its 
investment portfolio may fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company will 
manage foreign currency risk by matching currencies, i.e. J$ will be invested in opportunities that 
generate J$ and similarly US$. In addition, to mitigate this risk the Company may hedge its foreign 
exchange risks by investing in currency derivatives and buying foreign currency hedging instruments if 
the Investment Manager determines that such hedging strategy is in the best interest of the Company. 
The Investment Manager also limits the net exposure to currencies other than the US$. 

 
(ix) Collateral and Documentation Risk 

 

9.16 All investments will have documentation reflecting the nature of the transaction structure and the 
collateral securing the transaction in order to provide adequate protection of the investments 
made by SCI. The Company is exposed to the risk of loss of investments or interest or dividends 
on such investments if the relevant documentation is unenforceable or inadequate. To mitigate 
this risk, the Company retains internal and external attorneys to review and advise on 
documentation relating to investments. In instances where SCI holds security, it must meet credit 
risk policy requirements which include perfecting security, or in certain circumstances holding 
security in registrable form for perfection when considered appropriate by the Investment 
Manager. 

 

(x) Operational Risks 
 
9.17 In the execution of its business functions the Company is exposed to operational risks arising 

from failures in systems and the processes through which it operates. Critical areas of operational 
risks include: 

(a) errors by the Investment Manager and other agents of the Company; 
 

(b) accounting errors, data entry errors; and 
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(c) fraud (internal and external) or other criminal activity. 
 

Under the Investment Management Agreement between the Company and the Investment 
Manager, the latter is required to indemnify the Company against all actions, proceedings, claims, 
costs, demands and expenses which may be brought against, suffered or incurred by the 
Company by reason of any fraud, negligence or wilful default on the part of the Investment 
Manager. Similar obligations are imposed upon parties contracted by the Investment Manager to 
provide services to the Company. The Investment Manager will seek to eliminate such risks by 
maintaining a comprehensive system of internal controls and administrative checks and balances 
to monitor transactions supported by a robust external auditing oversight. Under the provision of 
the Corporate Services Agreement, the Investment Manager will also provide general accounting 
support to the Company. It is expected that the Investment Manager’s robust internal procedures 
will ensure completeness of entries to the financial statements, as well as provide general 
accounting oversight. 

 

(xi) Thin Market in Company’s Preference Shares 
 

9.18 The Jamaican stock market is relatively small and the market trading in the Company’s 
Preference Shares (if listed) will be relatively thin compared to larger capital markets. That means 
that trading in small quantities of SCI’s Preference Shares can trigger wide swings (up or down) 
in the market price of the Preference Shares and make it easier for the stock price to be 
manipulated. 

 

(xii) Control of the Company 
 
9.19 Consistent with the business model which the Company has adopted, the Investment Manager 

will retain some control over the Company through the Special Share. This is designed to ensure 
that the Company is managed, and its assets invested in the manner contemplated by the 
Investment Manager. Nevertheless, the significant influence with respect to the election of 
directors may be averse to the interest of the other stockholders. 

 

(xiii) The Special Share held by SCL will deter take-over bids. 
 
9.20 The fact that SCL holds the Special Share which gives it control over the election of Directors and 

other key corporate decisions will make it unlikely that any investor other than SCL or entities 
affiliated with SCL would bid for control of the Company. Such bid if made would usually be 
expected to be at a premium above the prevailing trading price of the Shares. Accordingly, the 
likelihood of stockholders receiving a take-over bid is reduced, perhaps significantly. 

(xiv) Concentration in Credit Risks 
 
9.21 The Company’s investment portfolio consists of various types of credit investments but is not 

intended to contain any other types of investments such as real property or ordinary stocks. This 
lack of diversification means that the Portfolio is particularly exposed to credit risks. 
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(xv) Related Party & Potential Conflict of Interest 
 

9.22 The Company and its investment portfolio are managed by Sygnus Capital Limited (“SCL”), which 
is a related party. SCL, also provides corporate services to the Company pursuant to a Corporate 
Services Agreement. In spite of the multiple roles which SCL has, the interests of the various 
parties are generally aligned. Notwithstanding that the parties all share common interest in the 
success of the Company, it is possible that conflicts of interest may arise in the day-to-day 
operations of SCI. The risk management policy of the Company also adopts best practice 
measures to address any perceived or real conflict of interest that may arise in the operations and 
management of the business. 

9.23 Peter Thompson, a current director of the Company, represents one of the Company’s 
shareholders, JMMB Fund Managers Limited (“JMMB”). JMMB and its affiliated companies, 
particularly JMMB Bank (Jamaica) Limited, are in the business of providing credit services to 
companies in Jamaica and other Caribbean countries. Given that the Company is also in the 
business of providing credit services to companies, it will likely compete with JMMB and its 
affiliated companies for customers. As a director of the Company, Mr. Thompson will be privy to 
information on the Company and its clients as well as those of JMMB. Accordingly, Mr. 
Thompson may have competing interests in the Company and JMMB. 

9.24 The Directors owe fiduciary duties to the Company. These duties include the duty to (i) act 
honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interest of the Company; and (ii) exercise the 
care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person would exercise in comparable 
circumstances, including, but not limited to the general knowledge, skill and experience of the 
director. These duties would prohibit each of the Directors of the Company from disclosing the 
Company’s confidential information in any manner which is not in the best interest of the 
Company. As fiduciaries, Directors have a duty not to put themselves in a position where their 
personal interests’ conflict with their duty to the Company. Directors are also required to disclose 
the nature or extent of their interest(s) in contracts with the Company. This would include their 
relationships with any person, company or body who is a party to a contract or proposed contract 
with the Company. 

(xvi) Changes in Law & Regulatory Risks 
 

9.25 The Company is a St. Lucian International Business Company which invests in medium-sized 
firms located in jurisdictions across the wider Caribbean region. Changes in legislation in these 
jurisdictions could negatively impact on the financial or operational performance of the Company 
or on the financial or operational performance of any such Medium- Sized Firm which in turn 
could negatively impact the performance of the Company. 

 

9.26 The Company or Medium-Sized Firms in which it invests may become subject to new regulatory 
rules or standards that differ from those that are presently applicable. If such regulatory rules or 
standards become onerous from the point of view of the Company or its clients, this could require 
the Company to recapitalize, or to change its business operations, and in any case, changes in 
such regulatory rules or standards may affect its long - term profitability. 
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9.27 The Investment Manager is licensed as a securities dealer under the Securities Act of Jamaica 
and regulated by the FSC. Officers and Directors of the Investment Manager are also registered 
under the Securities Act as dealer’s representatives in relation to the Investment Manager. The 
ability of the Investment Manager to provide investment advisory services in relation to the 
Company’s investment portfolio could be adversely impacted if: 

 
a) its dealer’s license is suspended or canceled; 
b) the registration of its Dealer Representatives is suspended or canceled; or 
c) there are adverse changes in regulations and laws affecting the Investment Manager. 

 

9.28 The performance of the Company and its ability to invest in Medium-Sized Firms located in 
different jurisdictions could be affected by changes in treaties made between St. Lucia and such 
jurisdictions (such as the CARICOM Double Taxation Treaty). 

 

(xvii) New Accounting Rules or Standards 
 

9.29 The Company may become subject to new accounting rules or standards that differ from those 
that are presently applicable. Such new accounting rules or standards could require significant 
changes in the way the Company currently reports its financial position, operating results or cash 
flows. Such changes could be applied retrospectively. 

 

(xviii) Inability to Redeem Shares 
 

9.30 The Company is obliged to invite shareholders to offer Shares for redemption from time to time. 
The Company may not be in a position to redeem such Shares if it does not have sufficient 
distributable profits or if it is unable to raise sufficient funds from a fresh issue of Shares. 

 

(xix) Risk Management 

9.31 The Company’s goal in risk management is to ensure that it understands, measures, and 
monitors the various risks that arise and that it adheres strictly to the policies and procedures, 
which are established to address these potential risks. 

 

9.32 The Board of Directors of the Company is ultimately responsible for the risk management policies 
of SCI and has delegated the management of credit risk to the Investment and Risk Management 
Committee, a sub-committee of the Board of SCL. The Directors do not guarantee that changes 
in the local and international markets will not have any materially adverse impact on SCI’s 
financial results. 

 

(xx) Pandemic Risk  

9.33 The Company’s financial condition and results of operations may in the future be adversely 
 affected by public health events. 

Preventive measures implemented to contain or mitigate public health events, such as 
quarantines or lockdowns, travel restrictions, social distance policies, and limiting operations of 
certain non-essential firms may materially impact the economies and operations of the 
businesses within the Company’s private credit portfolio. The Company could face risks related to 
the fair value adjustments to its investment portfolio, an increase in non-performing investments 
due to business closures, expected impairment allowances, and unexpected investment exits or 
liquidity demands triggered by such public health events, including epidemics and pandemics. 
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The overall impact of another public health event on the economies and operations of the portfolio 
companies will depend on various factors, including the ultimate duration and scope of the crisis, its effect 
on their customers, employees, suppliers and vendors, imposed restrictions on travel, quarantines and 
other measures, capacity limitations and enforced social distancing requirements and the duration and 
magnitude of an economic downturn cause by such crisis. Whilst the timing or extent of any future 
potential public health event is an exogenous risk factor, Management’s business continuity planning has 
contingencies aimed at mitigating adverse impact on the Company’s operations and the portfolio 
companies. 

 
 

SECTION 109   |   THE COMPANY 
 

 
Company History 

10.1 The Company was incorporated on January 13, 2017, as an International Business Company 
under the International Business Companies Act, 1999 of Saint Lucia with its registered office 
located at 20 Micoud Street, Castries, St. Lucia. 

10.2 At incorporation, the Company’s authorized share capital was US$10,000 made up of 100,000 
Shares of US$0.10 each. The Shares were issued to Sygnus Capital Management Limited. In 
accordance with the objectives set by Investment Manager, the Company on April 3, 2017, 
carried out its first fund raising by way of an offer of Ordinary Shares to Accredited Investors in a 
private placement under the Guideline for Exempt Distributions (Guidelines SR-GUID-08/05-
0016). The offer resulted in the Company allotting 140,140,000 Shares to Accredited Investors. A 
further 19,029,523 Shares were subsequently allotted to three (3) additional Shareholders to 
raise further capital. 

10.3 In April 2018 the Company carried out a successful Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) of 90,909,091 
Ordinary Shares in two classes, namely US$ and J$ shares. The IPO was oversubscribed and 
consequently upsized by a further 99,908,949 Shares. In all, the Company allotted 190,818,040 
Shares in the IPO. On June 18, 2018, both the Company’s US$ Shares and J$ Shares were 
respectively listed on the JSE’s US$ denominated Main Market and J$ denominated Main 
Market. 

10.4 In December 2020 the Company carried out a successful Additional Public Offer(“APO”) of 
240,887,900 Ordinary Share in two classes namely US$ and J$ shares. The APO received 3,757 
applications. 

10.5 In September 2022 the Company issued the equivalent of US$4.90M of Cumulative Convertible 
Preference Shares in two tranches namely J$ and US$ Indexed shares. 

10.6      In December 2023, the Company issued the equivalent of US$50.37M of Cumulative 
Redeemable Preference Shares in three tranches namely J$ and two US$ tranches. 
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 10.7     In July 2024, the Company issued the equivalent of US$3.24M of Cumulative Convertible 
Preference shares in two tranches, J$ and US$ Indexed shares. 

10.8 The Company has a 15-month unsecured dual-currency Revolving Line of Credit facility of up to 
J$750,000,000 or US$ equivalent with JMMB Bank (Jamaica) Limited. Interest is payable 
quarterly at 12.25% (USD rate of 8.75%). 

10.9 The Company has a 1-year Senior Unsecured Revolving Line of Credit facility with Sagicor Bank 
Jamaica Limited:  

a)  Senior Unsecured Revolving Line of Credit not exceeding US$790,000.00. Interest is 
payable quarterly at 6.75%. 

b)  Senior Unsecured Revolving Line of Credit not exceeding J$452,168,114.00. Interest is 
payable quarterly at 10.00%. 

 

Company’s Business 

10.10 Sygnus Credit Investments Limited is a specialty Private Credit investment company, dedicated 
to providing non-traditional financing to Medium-Sized Firms across the wider Caribbean region. 
Non-traditional forms of credit are more customized and flexible than traditional financing. 
Consequently, the Company offers an alternative channel through which Medium-Sized Firms - 
which are typically underserved by traditional forms of financing - can access capital to drive their 
expansion and growth. 

 
10.11 The investment objective of the Company is to generate attractive risk adjusted returns with an 

emphasis on principal protection, by generating current income, and to a lesser extent capital 
appreciation, through investments primarily in Medium-Sized Firms (“Portfolio Companies”) using 
Private Credit instruments. The Company invests primarily in Private Credit instruments including 
bilateral notes and bonds, preference shares, asset-backed debt, mezzanine debt, convertible 
debt and other forms of structured Private Credit instruments. These forms of financing are 
typically more aligned with the growth and expansion plans of Portfolio Companies. 

 
10.12 The Company targets mostly Portfolio Companies operating across a broad range of sectors, 

including manufacturing, distribution, financial services, energy, real estate, transportation, 
infrastructure and business services. These Portfolio Companies typically have revenues 
between US$5 million and US$25 million. 

 
10.13 The Company’s dividend policy is to pay out up to 85% of the earnings generated from these 

investments as dividends. Thus, the Company unlocks capital for the growth and expansion of 
Portfolio Companies through its Private Credit investments, while providing its Shareholders with 
access to the Private Credit market in the form of consistent dividend payments. Dividends are 
currently paid semi-annually and may change to quarterly in the future when it is more 
appropriate to do so. 

 
10.14 The Company’s investment activities are managed by its Investment Manager, Sygnus Capital 

Limited (SCL). The Investment Manager is a wholly owned subsidiary of Sygnus Capital Group 
Limited. 
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Share Capital 

10.15 The Company is authorized to issue four classes of shares; namely: 
 

(a) A special rights redeemable preference share (the Special Share). At a general 
meeting of the Company, the holder of the Special Share has one vote on a 
show of hands and on a poll he shall have such number of votes as is equivalent 
to 101% of the aggregate votes, vested in all ordinary Shares issued by the 
Company from time to time but no right to receive any distribution of assets on 
a winding-up except the US$1.00 which was subscribed for the Special Share. 
A dividend may be paid to the holder of the Special Share in lieu of, or in 
addition to, the management fee payable to the Investment Manager. The 
Special Share will rank ahead of the US$, J$ and TT$ shares in the event of a 
winding up of the Company. The Special Share may be held by any member of 
the Sygnus Group and is currently held by Sygnus Capital Group Limited. 
 

(b) US$ Shares. At a general meeting of the Company, every member present in 
person and holding a US$ Share or US$ Shares has one vote on a show of 
hands and on a poll every member present in person or by proxy holding a US$ 
Share or US$ Shares shall have one vote for each share of which he is the 
holder. Holders of US$ Shares will have the usual right to receive dividends 
and to participate in the assets of the Company on a winding-up. Each US$ 
Share has a par value of US$0.01; 
 

(c) J$ Shares. At a general meeting of the Company, every member present in 
person and holding a J$ Share or J$ Shares has one vote on a show of hands 
and on a poll every member present in person or by proxy holding a J$ Share 
or J$ Shares shall have one vote for each share of which he is the holder. 
Holders of J$ Shares will have the usual right to receive dividends and to 
participate in the assets of the Company on a winding-up. Each J$ Share has a 
par value of J$1.30; 
 

(d) TT$ Shares. At a general meeting of the Company, every member present in 
person and holding a TT$ Share or TT$ Shares has one vote on a show of hands 
and on a poll every member present in person or by proxy holding a TT$ Share 
or TT$ Shares shall have one vote for each share of which he is the holder. 
Holders of TT$ Shares will have the usual right to receive dividends and to 
participate in the assets of the Company on a winding-up. Each TT$ Share has 
a par value of TT$0.07; 

The US$, J$ and TT$ shares all rank pari passu with each other. 

10.16 The Special Share is held by the Investment Manager. As at the date of this Prospectus, Existing 
Shareholders have been issued 590,975,463 ordinary Shares made up of 242,735,763 US$ 
Shares and 348,239,700 J$ Shares. 
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10.17 The Special Share is designed to ensure that the purpose and operational philosophy of the 
Company cannot be subverted without the consent of the holder of the Special Share. This is 
achieved by: 

 
(a) preventing any variation of rights attached to the Special Share without the 

consent of the holder thereof. Each of the following proposals is deemed to be a 
proposed variation of the rights attaching to the Special Share and is only 
effective with the consent in writing of the holder of the Special Share; namely: 

(b) (i) modification or termination of the Investment Management Agreement; (ii) 
the amendment, or removal or alteration of the effect of all or any of the 
provisions in the Memorandum of Association or the Articles of Association of 
the Company setting out the rights and privileges attaching to the Special Share 
or otherwise concerning the Special Share. 

(c) providing majority votes on a poll to such holder at a general meeting (see 
Section 8.9(a) above). At a general meeting, the holder of the Special Share 
carries 101% of the aggregate votes, vested in all ordinary Shares issued by the 
Company. In comparison, each ordinary Share carries one vote on a poll. This 
means that the holder of the Special Share could, by itself, pass a resolution 
requiring a simple majority vote. 

The voting rights attached to the Special Share are restricted by the Articles as follows: 

(d) If the Company fails to repurchase Shares or to make an invitation to 
repurchase Shares in accordance with its share buy-back program, the holders 
of Shares in the Company may vote on a resolution to reduce the management 
fee payable to the Investment Manager. The holder of the Special Share will not 
have a vote on such a resolution; 

(e) If the Company experiences “Under-Performance” the shareholders of the 
Company may by resolution passed at any general meeting vote to wind-up the 
Company. The holder of the Special Share will have no vote on any such 
resolution to wind-up the Company unless it is shown that the Under-
Performance of the Company has ceased. “Under-performance” means that for 
three (3) consecutive financial years, not including the Company’s first financial 
year, the gross return on the Investment Portfolio is 150 basis points less than 
the hurdle rate of 6%. 

 

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 
 

Shareholders Shareholding Approx. % Issued 
Capital 

  Sygnus Capital Group 1 Special Share 0.00% 

Existing Ordinary 
Shareholders  

590,975,463 Ordinary Shares 100% 
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10.18 As at June 30, 2024, the Company’s top ten ordinary shareholders were: 
 

 
Top Ten Ordinary Shareholders 
 
 
No. 

 
Shareholders 

 
Shareholdings 

 
% Holdings 
 

1 ATL Group Pension Fund Trustees Nominee LTD 27,271,991 4.7% 
2 SJIML A/C 3119 25,425,700 4.3% 
3 JCSD Trustee Services Ltd – Sigma Equity 23,850,444 4.1% 
4 National Insurance Fund 20,000,000 3.4% 
5 JMMB Fund Managers Ltd T1 – Equities Fund 19,460,000 3.3% 
6 Wildelle Limited 18,199,900 3.1% 
7 JCSD Trustee Services Ltd – Sigma Optima 13,059,955 2.2% 
8 MF&G Asset Management Ltd 13,035,000 2.2% 
9 Sagicor Pooled Equity Fund 11,729,600 2.0% 
10 Sagicor JPS Employees Pension Plan 11,418,700 1.9% 
 Sub-total 183,451,290 31.3% 
 Total 585,960,664 100.0% 

 
 
The remaining shareholders hold 402,509,374 Ordinary Shares representing approximately 68.7% of the 
total issued share capital of the Company. Note that the Top ten Ordinary Shareholders list is calculated 
based on the fully issued shares less the treasury shares that Sygnus Credit Investments Limited (SCI) 
holds from share buyback repurchases.  
 
10.19 As at June 30, 2024, the Company’s top ten preference shareholders were: 
 

 
Top Ten Preference Shareholders 
 
 
No 

 
Shareholders 

 
Shareholdings 

 
% Holdings 
 

1 MICHELLE JULAL 1,046,607. 6.6% 
2 GRACEKENNEDY LIMITED 1,000,000. 4.6% 
3 PAM - POOLED EQUITY FUND 1,000,000. 3.8% 
4 EDWARD JACKSON 655,060. 2.9% 
5 NOVAR MCDONALD 434,926. 2.2% 
6 GARY HESSING 427,815. 1.9% 
7 ANGELLA VANHORNE 427,815. 1.3% 
8 DEVELOPMENT BANK OF JAMAICA 

PENSION FUND 300,000. 1.1% 

9 JESSICA YAP 299,077. 0.9% 
10 ALFRED BAHADUR 250,000. 0.9% 
 Sub-total 5,841,300 24.8% 
  23,548,993 100.0% 
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10.20 Total Issued Preference Shares in the event that the Invitation is fully subscribed. 

Issued Preference Shares 23,548,993 

Sub-Total 23,548,993 

Issued Preference Shares (New) 14,000,000 

Total 37,548,993 

 

CAPITALIZATION 

10.21 The following table sets forth the cash and cash equivalents and capitalization as of June 
30, 2024.  

   
As of June 30, 2024 (US$) 
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents  2,750,237 
   
Notes Payable 60,955,576  
   
Cumulative Redeemable 
Preference Shares 

48,994,477  

   
Loans and Borrowings 8,062,646  
   
Total Debt  118,012,699 
   
Equity  73,617,621 
   
Total capitalization   194,380,557 
 

Share Buy-Back Program 

 
10.22 The Articles provide that the Company will, after the Fifth Anniversary Date, invite shareholders to 

offer for sale such number of Shares the aggregate value of which shall not exceed more than 15% 
of the Net Asset Value (the “Initial Invitation”). After the Initial Invitation, similar invitations will be 
made every three years following the Fifth Anniversary Date. Every such invitation shall be made 
within ninety (90) days of the relevant anniversary date and generally to all shareholders. 
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10.23.   Where the Company: 
 

(a) fails to make any such invitation; or 
 

(b) fails to repurchase Shares which it is obliged to repurchase pursuant to 
any invitation, 

 

and such failure was not caused by a Material Adverse Event (as defined in Section 5), any one 
or more of the Company’s shareholders holding not less than 10% of the issued Shares of the 
Company may requisition a meeting to consider a resolution to reduce the management fees 
payable to the Investment Manager. If such a resolution is passed by a simple majority vote, the 
reduction of the management fee will take effect. The holder of the Special Share shall not be 
entitled to vote on such a resolution. Any reduction in the fee payable to the Investment Manager 
will cease to have effect once the relevant Shares are repurchased. 

 
 

10.22 As a listed company, SCI is required to comply with the JSE Main Market Rules. Rule 413 
(Purchase by Company of Its Own Shares) of the JSE Main Market Rules requires, among other 
things, that the Company at all times maintain and satisfy the requirements as to minimum issued 
capital and the minimum number of shares/stockholders as specified in Rules 402(A) and 402(B) 
respectively. Accordingly, the Company will ensure that its share buy-back program does not 
affect its compliance with Rule 413. 

 

Intellectual and Real Property 

10.24    As at the date of this prospectus, the Company has no registered intellectual or real property. 
 

Applicable Regulatory Regime 

 
10.25 The Company is a St. Lucian International Business Company (“IBC”) and does not carry on or 

intend to carry on business in Jamaica. Further, the Company has not to date (and does not 
intend to establish at this time) a place of business in Jamaica.  In 2018 the Company issued 
Shares pursuant to an Initial Public Offering (“the IPO”) and successfully listed all its issued 
shares on the JSE. By virtue of the IPO and subsequent listing the Company became subject to 
all laws applicable to issuers of securities in Jamaica and companies listed on the stock 
exchange. The Company is also subject to the regulatory authority of the JSE, the Financial 
Services Commission and the Companies Office by virtue of this issue of the Preference Share 
Prospectus. 

 
10.26 Rule 412(A) of the JSE Main Market Rules provides that listed companies which intend to issue 

new shares for cash should first make an offer of such shares to existing shareholders by way of 
a rights issue unless the stockholders of the Company, by an ordinary resolution, approve 
another specific method. Under Rule 412(F), listed companies incorporated in countries where 
there are no statutory or other requirement giving pre-emptive rights to existing shareholders, are 
not required to comply with Rule 412A; however such companies must undertake that new issues 
of shares for cash, other than to existing holders pro-rata to their holdings, will not be made on 
terms likely to detract significantly from the value of the interest of such holders. SCI, being 
incorporated in Saint Lucia where the International Business Company Act Chap 12.14 does not 
grant existing shareholders pre-emption rights over new shares, could sell the new shares for 
cash to third parties provided that such sales did not significantly detract from the value of the 
interests of Existing Shareholders. 
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10.27 The Investment Manager, Sygnus Capital Limited (SCL), is licensed as a securities dealer under 

the Securities Act (“the SA”) and is regulated by the FSC. The SA requires a licensed dealer to 
appoint a responsible officer to ensure that the licensee complies with all requirements of the Act. 
Accordingly, SCL has appointed Dr. Ike Johnson as responsible officer for the Company. As a 
licensed securities dealer, SCL and its dealer’s representatives are required to keep records of 
the securities in which they have an interest in and the FSC is empowered to inspect these 
records. A securities dealer and its dealer representative(s) are required to disclose the nature of 
their interest in, or their interest in the acquisition or disposal of, or the interest of any associated 
person in, the securities which they recommend for purchase. This disclosure must accompany 
any such recommendation. Dealers licensed under the SA are also required to file annual and 
quarterly reports with the FSC in accordance with the provisions of the Securities (Conduct of 
Business) Regulations. Failure by a licensed dealer or dealer’s representative to comply with the 
SA or its attendant regulations is an offence. 

 

Subsidiaries 

 
10.28 The Company has three subsidiaries, namely Sygnus Credit Investments Jamaica Limited 

(“SCIJ”), SCI PR Holdings Limited (“SCIPRH”) and Sygnus Credit Investments PR Inc. 
(“SCIPRI”). SCIJ is wholly owned by SCI and was incorporated on May 7, 2019, as a limited 
liability company under the Companies Act, 2004 of Jamaica. SCIJ was established to carry out 
various financing activities on behalf of the Company. SCI PR Holdings Limited (“SCIPRH”) was 
incorporated on July 1, 2021, under the International Business Companies Act. Business 
operations commenced on February 28, 2022. Sygnus Credit Investments PR Inc (“SCIPRI”) was 
formerly SCI Puerto Rico Inc, with a name change occurring effective April 1, 2024. SCIPRI was 
incorporated on September 24, 2021, as a Domestic Corporation and is a wholly owned 
subsidiary of SCIPRH. Business operations commenced on February 28, 2022. Sygnus Credit 
Investments PR Inc (“SCIPRI”) holds a 95.58% membership interest in Sygnus Credit 
Investments Puerto Rico Fund LLC (“SCIPRF or Fund”). The membership interest held in 
SCIPRF is reflected as an equity investment at the end of the reporting period, as it was 
determined under IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements that SCIPRI does not have power 
over the relevant activities of this Fund. 
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SECTION 11   |   SHARE CAPITAL STRUCTURE 
 

11.1 The Company has, as at the date of this Prospectus, issued 590,975,463 Ordinary Shares and 
has approximately 6,576 Ordinary Shareholders. Additionally, the Company has issued 
23,548,993 cumulative redeemable Preference Shares. The issued Ordinary Shares in the 
Company, as at the date of this Prospectus, are held as follows: 

 
11.2 The details of the share capital of the Company as at the date of this Prospectus are set out below:  

 

Existing shares 

Class Authorised Number Issued 

 

Fixed rate cumulative convertible 
preference shares [23,000,000] 

 

3,260,210, 8.50% cumulative 
convertible preference shares and 
288,783, 6.00% cumulative convertible 
preference shares.  

Fixed rate cumulative redeemable 
preference shares 

[23,000,000] 

16,000,000, 10.50% cumulative 
redeemable preference shares and 
2,321,920, 8.50% cumulative 
redeemable preference shares, 
1,678,000, 8.00% cumulative 
redeemable preference shares. 

Special rights redeemable share of 
US$1 1 

 

1 

Ordinary Unlimited [590,975,463] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 



SYGNUS CREDIT INVESTMENT LIMITED  |  SCI Perpetual Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares PROSPECTUS 
 

 
 

 

37 
 

 

SECTION 12   |  BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT  
 

 
The investment assets of the Company are managed by its Investment Manager, Sygnus Capital Limited 
(SCL), a subsidiary of Sygnus Capital Group Limited (SCG). SCL is a licensed securities dealer, 
regulated by the Financial Services Commission Jamaica. On February 28, 2022, SCI, through a wholly 
owned subsidiary, acquired 93.66% of Acrecent Financial Corporation, a private credit investment 
company in the US territory of Puerto Rico. During the June 2023 quarter, SCI increased its stake in 
Acrecent to 95%. AFC is not consolidated all the way up to SCI. An additional investment of US$3.00 
million was made in Acrecent during the December 2023 quarter which increased SCI’s stake to 95.58%.  

The Company has issued one Special Share to SCG. The Special Share has one vote on a show of 
hands, and on a poll, it shall have such number of votes as is equivalent to 101% of the aggregate votes 
vested in all Ordinary Shares issued by the Company. The Special Share has no right to receive any 
distribution of assets on a winding up except the US$1.00, which was subscribed for the Special Share. A 
dividend may be paid to the holder of the Special Share in lieu of, or in addition to, the management fee 
payable to the Investment Manager. 

Investment Management Decisions 

The Investment Manager has delegated investment decisions to a sub-committee of experts, known as 
the Investment and Risk Management Committee (IRMC). The IRMC has extensive regional and 
international experience and expertise spanning credit risk, corporate and investment banking, 
investment management and financial markets. 

The IRMC comprises: 

Chairman: Milton Brady 

Milton is Chairman of the Board, Sygnus Capital Limited and the Chairman on the SCL’s Investment and 
Risk Management Committee (“IRMC”) bringing with him a wealth of leadership experience. Currently 
serving as a Senior Advisor with Pan American Finance, Milton leverages his extensive expertise to 
provide strategic advice and counsel to businesses and governments throughout the Caribbean region. 

His illustrious career includes notable positions such as Director and Global Head of Credit at SEB 
Merchant Banking in Sweden, as well as President of SEB in New York, USA. Milton has also held key 
leadership roles as Managing Director of Corporate and Investment Banking at CIBC FirstCaribbean in 
Barbados, Managing Director of CIBC FirstCaribbean in Jamaica, Chief Commercial Officer at LIME 
(formerly Cable & Wireless Caribbean), and Chief Risk Officer at NCB Group in Jamaica. 
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Milton's distinguished career underscores his commitment to driving success and innovation across various 
sectors, solidifying his reputation as a seasoned professional with a profound impact on the financial and 
corporate landscape in the Caribbean and other regions. 

Simon Cawdery, CFA  

Simon is a Director of Sygnus Capital Limited and a member of SCL’s Investment and Risk Management 
Committee (“IRMC”). Additionally, he serves as a Non-Executive Director at HLX Management/IPAF Group 
in the Cayman Islands. Simon is also the visionary Founder and Director of Helix Group, Cayman, where 
his strategic insight has led to the growth and success of the company. 

Simon previously held other leadership positions, including Head of Investment Strategy and Senior 
Portfolio Manager at EFG Bank in the Cayman Islands. Prior to this, he served as the Head of Discretionary 
Investments and Senior Portfolio Manager at Butterfield Bank (Cayman), where his keen financial acumen 
contributed to the bank's success. Simon's role in finance commenced as a Credit Analyst at Barclays in 
the UK, providing him with a solid foundation in the intricacies of global financial markets. 

Jason Morris, CFA  

Jason is a Co-founder and Executive Vice President and Chief Investment Officer at Sygnus Capital Limited 
playing a pivotal role in shaping the company's strategic direction. 

Before assuming this key role, Jason made significant contributions to the financial industry during his 
tenure at Scotia Investments Jamaica Limited (SIJL). From June 2012 to June 2016, he held the position 
of Vice President of Business Analytics, Portfolio Advisory, and Product Development, showcasing his 
expertise in shaping data-driven business strategies. Prior to that, from March 2010 to June 2012, he served 
as Assistant Vice President of Product Development, demonstrating his proficiency in developing innovative 
financial products. 

In the earlier stages of his career, Jason developed his skills at JMMB Group Limited, where he dedicated 
eight years (from 2002 to 2010) to the company. Commencing as an Investment Research and Sovereign 
Risk Analyst, he swiftly climbed the ranks to become the Senior Investment Strategist and Portfolio 
Manager, contributing to the company's success through his astute investment insights and strategic 
portfolio management. 

Jason's journey in the financial industry not only reflects his commitment to excellence but also his ability 
to drive innovation and contribute significantly to the growth and success of any organizations he has been 
a part of. As one of the key strategic partners at Sygnus Capital Limited, he continues to bring a wealth of 
experience and visionary leadership to the company. 
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Investment Recommendations 

The Investment Manager, through a committee of specialists from its Investment Advisory Committee 
(IAC), provides recommendations to the IRMC for decision making. The IAC has extensive expertise in 
the Caribbean region with structuring and arranging corporate credit transactions across a wide range of 
asset classes, including structured finance, securitisation, mezzanine finance, project finance and 
corporate and investment banking. 

The IAC comprises: 

Chairman: Berisford Grey  

Beris is a Co-founder and Chief Executive Officer, Sygnus Capital Limited, steering the company toward 
unparalleled success. His illustrious career includes   his appointment in the role as Managing Director of 
Corporate & Investment Banking at CIBC FCIB, the largest regional bank in the Caribbean, where he 
played a pivotal role in shaping the financial landscape. 

Prior to joining CIBC FirstCaribbean, Beris was Senior Vice President of Origination & Capital Markets at 
Scotia Investments Jamaica Limited from 2010 to 2013. During this period, he left an indelible mark by 
spearheading some of the most innovative transactions in the local market. Notably, Beris orchestrated 
groundbreaking deals, including synthetic REIT financing structures, and introduced other pioneering 
project financing concepts that were the first of their kind in the industry. 

Beris's visionary leadership and strategic acumen have not only propelled Sygnus Capital Limited to new 
heights but have also left an enduring impact on the financial sector in the Caribbean. His ability to 
conceive and execute innovative financial strategies underscores his commitment to pushing boundaries 
and redefining the norms of the industry.  

Gregory Samuels, CFA  

Gregory is Senior Vice President and Head of Investment Banking at Sygnus Group, where he also 
serves as Head of Corporate Advisory. He was the former Assistant Vice President of Treasury and 
Trading at Scotia Investments Jamaica, and the former Associate Director, Client Solutions Group at 
CIBC FCIB, where he provided structured products and derivative hedging solutions to clients. Gregory 
was also a former Engineer with Royal Dutch Shell PLC. 

Ryan Landey, CFA 

Ryan has a Bachelor of Science Degree in Actuarial Science. Prior to joining Sygnus, Ryan worked as a 
Segmentation Analyst at Digicel Jamaica and a Credit and Product Development Analyst at Mundo 
Finance Limited. Ryan has been at Sygnus for over five (5) years where he has served as Investment 
Management Associate and Investment Manager prior to his current role as Assistant Vice President.   
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Yashi Hall 

Yashi Hall was educated in Jamaica and the UK, returning to Citibank shortly after completing her 
Master’s degree in 1997. At Citibank she accumulated Wholesale Banking experience in junior and senior 
management positions across Treasury, Transaction Banking Services and Relationship Management 
and Risk Management. During her tenure in Risk, she completed extensive training in corporate credit, 
managed Citi Jamaica’s payments and market risk systems and obtained her credit committee initials. 
Yashi joined CIBC FCIB in 2007 in an origination role with its newly formed Capital Markets Unit and later 
headed its Jamaica, Cayman and BVI Corporate Units as Director and Cluster Head, providing oversight 
for the Cluster’s investment banking, corporate sales and corporate credit portfolios. 

Ike Johnson, PhD, CFA 

See SCI Board of Directors. 

Sygnus Credit Investments’ Board of Directors 

12.1 The Articles of Association of SCI provides for a Board of Directors of not more than nine (9) 
persons. The current Board comprises seven (7) Directors. The Board of Directors is responsible 
for (i) the strategic direction of SCI which involves setting its business objectives and the plans for 
achieving them; (ii) execution of the approved business objectives through adequate 
management and resources; (iii) monitoring the performance of the Company’s investment 
Portfolio with a view to achieving the strategic objectives and ensuring compliance with all 
applicable legal and regulatory regimes; and (iv) due and proper accounting to all stakeholders of 
SCI including in particular, the stockholders. 

12.2 Brief Particulars of the current Directors are set out below. 

 

Linval Freeman, 
FCA, FCCA 
Independent 
Chairman 

Linval is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Jamaica (FCA) and Fellow of the Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants (FCCA). In addition, he also serves as a 
Justice of the Peace for Kingston and St. Andrew, further 
contributing to community development. 

Linval served as Director and Assurance Partner at Ernst & 
Young Caribbean (EY), Jamaica Office, from 2003 to 2018. 
Linval was instrumental in establishing the Advisory Service Line 
and fostering the growth and development of the Assurance 
Service Line. His dedication and leadership were integral to the 
firm's success, and he retired from the Partnership on July 31, 
2018. Prior to EY, Linval served as a Director at PwC, further 
solidifying his reputation as a leader in the financial industry. 
 
Linval was appointed to the Board of Sygnus Real Estate 
Finance Limited on December 19, 2019, and is also the 
Chairman of the Board’s Audit and Governance Committee.  
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Linval also serves as the Chairman of Sygnus Credit Investments 
Limited and a member of the Audit and Governance Committee. 
In addition, he is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and 
Director at Key Insurance Company Limited and Canopy 
Insurance Limited and Chairman of the Board of the National 
Housing Trust (“NHT’). 
 

Ike Johnson,  
PhD, CFA  
Non-executive 
Director 

Dr. Ike Johnson is the Executive Vice President and Chief 
Operating Officer of Sygnus Capital Limited.  In his role as Chief 
Operating Officer, Dr. Johnson holds executive responsibility for 
Operations, Corporate Strategy, and the Real Estate and Private 
Equity business lines.  His leadership and deep industry 
knowledge enable him to identify high-growth opportunities and 
deliver exceptional results for clients and investors. 
 
With a Ph.D. in Finance from the University of Manchester 
Business School and a CFA charter holder, Dr. Johnson brings a 
wealth of knowledge and experience to his role. His academic 
background, coupled with his extensive practical insights, 
enables him to navigate complex financial landscapes with 
exceptional acumen. 
 
In addition to his role at Sygnus Capital Limited, Dr. Johnson also 
serves as the Managing Director for Sygnus Group Puerto Rico 
Inc. Furthermore, he holds directorship positions in Sygnus Real 
Estate Finance, and Sygnus Deneb Investments Limited, 
showcasing his multifaceted contributions to the Sygnus Group's 
diverse portfolio. 
 
Driven by his dedication and passion for excellence, Dr. Ike 
Johnson embodies Sygnus Group's commitment to delivering 
innovative and transformative solutions. His exceptional 
leadership, strategic foresight, and commitment to pushing 
boundaries have solidified Sygnus Group's position as a trusted 
partner in the alternative investments landscape. 
 
Dr. Johnson was appointed to the Board on January 13, 2017, he 
is a Non-independent Director. 
 

Ian Williams,  
B.Sc., M.B.A  
Independent Non-
executive Director 

Ian Williams is an accomplished executive with extensive 
experience in both banking and consultancy. He currently serves 
as the President and CEO of ZNW Management and 
Consultancy Limited, where he leverages his vast knowledge of 
the Caribbean market to help international companies establish a 
foothold in the region. 

 
Before founding ZNW Management, Ian spent 15 successful 
years at CIBC FirstCaribbean International Bank (FCIB), where 
he played a key role within the Treasury department. His tenure 
at FCIB culminated in his position as Director and Head of 
Foreign Exchange Sales, where he managed large-scale 
currency trading operations and developed robust foreign 
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exchange strategies. Ian’s leadership in this role not only helped 
the bank navigate complex market environments but also 
positioned him as an expert in the field of treasury and currency 
management across the Caribbean. 
 
Ian’s financial acumen and deep industry insights have earned 
him a respected place on the Board of Directors for Sygnus 
Credit Investments Limited, to which he was appointed on July 1, 
2017. As a member of the Board’s Audit and Governance 
Committee, Ian plays an integral role in overseeing the 
company’s financial and governance practices, ensuring that 
Sygnus continues to operate with the highest standards of 
integrity and transparency. 
 

Damian Chin,  
B.A., M.Sc. 
Independent Non-
executive Director 

Damian holds a Master of Science in Economics from the 
prestigious London School of Economics and Political Science 
(LSE), which has equipped him with a deep understanding of 
global financial systems and economic policy. His academic 
background, coupled with his professional expertise, has 
positioned him as a key player in the financial sector.  
 
Currently serving as the Deputy Director of Finance and Planning 
at Sandals Resorts International, Damian plays a crucial role in 
shaping the financial strategies of the company. Prior to his role 
at Sandals, Damian served as a consultant at Paul Chen Young 
& Associates, where he provided strategic financial insights, and 
as a Financial Analyst at First Fidelity Bank in New Jersey, where 
he honed his skills in financial analysis and banking. 
 
In addition to his executive role, Damian was appointed to the 
Board of Sygnus Credit Investments Limited on November 9, 
2017, where he currently serves as the Chairman of the Board’s 
Enterprise Risk Committee. His leadership in this capacity has 
been instrumental in strengthening the company’s risk 
management framework, ensuring that Sygnus remains resilient 
in an ever-changing economic landscape. Damian's strategic 
foresight and financial acumen make him a vital asset to both the 
Sygnus Board and the broader financial community. 
 

Peter Thompson, 
CFA, M.Sc. 
Independent Non-
executive Director 

Peter is a distinguished financial professional serving as the 
Group Client Investment Manager at JMMB Group Ltd. In this 
pivotal role, he is tasked with the development and optimization 
of processes and structures that underpin Non-executive 
Director/ Independent Director the management and service 
delivery of client portfolios throughout the JMMB Group.  
 
Before his current role, Peter held several key positions at JMMB 
Ltd, including Senior Investment Manager for Client Portfolios 
and Manager of Group Product Portfolio and Business 
Development. His extensive experience in these roles allowed 
him to refine his skills in portfolio management, product 
development, and business strategy, contributing to JMMB's 
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growth and innovation. His leadership and strategic insights have 
been instrumental in shaping the company's investment offerings 
and driving business development initiatives.  
 
Appointed to the Board of Sygnus Credit Investments Limited on 
November 9, 2017, Peter also serves as a member of the 
Board’s Enterprise Risk Committee. In this capacity, he brings a 
wealth of experience and a keen understanding of risk 
management to the board, helping to fortify Sygnus’s risk 
framework and ensure its strategic resilience. 
 

Hope Fisher,  
BSc  
Independent Non-
Executive Director 

Hope Fisher is a distinguished civil servant with the Ministry of 
Labour & Social Security, where the Director of the Bond Portfolio 
at the National Insurance Fund (NIF). In this capacity, she is 
responsible for overseeing the management of the fixed income 
portfolio and crafting strategic initiatives to optimize investment 
opportunities. 
 
With a proven track record in financial management and 
investment strategy, Hope brings a wealth of experience to her 
role. Her adeptness at monitoring and evaluating market trends 
allows her to develop innovative strategies that capitalize on 
emerging investment opportunities.  
 
Hope was appointed to the Board of Sygnus Credit Investments 
Limited on February 16, 2018, and she actively contributes as a 
member of the Board’s Enterprise Risk Committee. Her role on 
the committee is crucial in reinforcing Sygnus’s risk management 
framework, leveraging her deep understanding of financial risks 
and portfolio management to enhance the company’s resilience 
and strategic decision-making. Hope’s contributions are a 
testament to her commitment to excellence in both public service 
and corporate governance. 
 

Horace Messado, 
FCA, MBA 
Independent Non-
Executive Director 

Horace is a Chartered Accountant, with an extensive career 
spanning over 25 years. He also holds a MBA in Finance from 
the University of Manchester. His expertise encompasses a 
diverse array of disciplines, including accounting, corporate 
finance, contract negotiation, regulatory economics and tariff 
design, business development, and strategic planning. With over 
a decade at the executive level, Horace has honed his skills to 
become a multifaceted leader. 
 
Horace started his career at KPMG and Ernst & Young Services 
Limited. He held other senior positions including Financial 
Controller and Director of Corporate Finance at Jamaica Public 
Service Company Ltd. (“JPS”) and Group Financial Controller at 
MaruEnergy Caribbean Limited. He also acted in the roles of 
Trustee and Chairman of the Investment Committee of one of the 
largest pension funds in Jamaica. 
 



SYGNUS CREDIT INVESTMENT LIMITED  |  SCI Perpetual Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares PROSPECTUS 
 

 
 

 

44 
 

Horace was appointed to the Board of Sygnus Real Estate 
Finance Limited (“SRF”) on April 1, 2021, and is currently the 
Chairman of the Board and the Enterprise Risk Committee. 
Horace is also a member of the Audit and Governance 
Committee. 
 
He is a member of the Board of Sygnus Credit Investments 
Limited and the Chairman of the Board’s Audit and Governance 
Committee. This dual role underscores his capacity to provide 
valuable insights and governance oversight across multiple 
businesses. 

 

 
 

SECTION 13  |  AUDITED FINANCIAL RESULTS 
 

 
13.1 The summary consolidated statement of comprehensive income has been extracted from the 

audited financial statements of the Company as at and for the years ended June 30, 2020 to 
June 30, 2024. The summary financial statements presented do not include all the disclosures 
in the financial statements and cannot be expected to provide as complete an understanding as 
provided by the financial statements. 

 
A complete set of audited financial statements for the Company for the financial years ended 
June 30, 2020 to June 30, 2024 can be found on the following websites. 

 
www.jamstockex.com 
www.sygnusgroup.com  

 
A copy of the audited Financial Statements for the Company for the financial year ended June 
30, 2024 appears as APPENDIX 2. 
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13.2 Summary consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
 
SYGNUS CREDIT INVESTMENTS Limited  
Summary Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For each of the Five Years ended 30 June 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024 
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
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13.3 Summary consolidated statement of financial position 
 

SYGNUS CREDIT INVESTMENTS Limited  
Summary Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
For each of the Five Years ended 30 June 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024 
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
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13.4 Summary consolidated statement of changes in equity 
 

SYGNUS CREDIT INVESTMENTS Limited  
Summary Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 
For each of the Five Years ended 30 June 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024 
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated) 
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13.5 Summary consolidated statement of cash flows 
 

 
SYGNUS CREDIT INVESTMENTS Limited  
Summary Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 
For each of the Five Years ended 30 June 2020, 2021, 2022, 2023 and 2024 
(Expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise indicated)  
 
 

 
 
 
The methodology of reporting the consolidated statement of cashflows has been changed to the direct 
method from the indirect method in previous years. See Note 27. ( C ) of the audited financial statements 
in Appendix 2 to reconcile the changes between the two approaches. 
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SECTION 14  |  MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS       
                          (MD&A) 
 

 

14.1 Prospective Investors are invited to view our FY2024 Audited Financial Statements and the 
related MD&A which can be found at the following websites: 

1. Investor Relations – Sygnus Credit Investments - Sygnus Group 
2. Home - Jamaica Stock Exchange (jamstockex.com) 

 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

14.2 As of the FYE June 2024, the Company's balance sheet held US$2.75 million in dry powder, 
including short-term instruments and cash. This amount represents the remaining funds from a 
capital raise at the end of the December 2023 quarter through the issuance of US$50.37 million 
cumulative redeemable preference shares. SCI is at the final stages of approval with its 
international financing partners to secure access to considerable credit facilities to assist in 
financing its substantial pipeline. 

 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

14.3  Related party transactions summary as at June 30, 2024  

Related Party Relationshi
p to SCI Country Investment/ Credit Type Return 

(%) 
Maturity 
(Years) 

 
Current 
Exposure 
 

Distribution Director ABC Islands Customized Medium-Term Note 10-13% >1-3 Year >1Mn-3Mn 

Financial Services Director St. Lucia Customized Short-Term Note 10-13% <1 Year >1Mn-3Mn 

Financial Services Director St. Lucia Customized Short-Term Note 10-13% <1 Year >5Mn-7Mn 

Hospitality Director Jamaica Customized Short-Term Note 12-15% >1-3 Years >3Mn-5Mn 
SUB TOTAL 
(RELATED PARTY)           14,347,659 

Total Exposure      14,347,659 

 

DIVIDEND POLICY 

14.4 Each class of the Preference Shares will be paid dividends at the respective Dividend Rate 
PROVIDED THAT: 

i. Dividends will be paid quarterly on the final Business Day of the Issuer’s financial quarter end 
commencing the first quarter after the issue date of the Preference Shares. 

ii. In the event that the Dividend Payment Date is not a Business Day, the dividend payment 
shall be made on the previous Business Day. 

iii. Dividends shall be paid from the distributable profits of the Company. 

https://sygnusgroup.com/investor-relations/investor-relations-sci/#1684432806150-5d9760db-a3c0
https://www.jamstockex.com/
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14.5 The record of dividends declared and paid on SCI’s existing ordinary and preference shares in 
the last 5 years is as follows: 

 

 
RECORD OF COMMON DIVIDENDS DECLARED AND PAID: 
  

Payment Date 
  

 
Class 
  

 
Total (US$) 
  

 
Per Unit (US$) 
  

5-Apr-24 Ordinary 1,547,388 0.00263 

13-Oct-23 Ordinary 1,600,241 0.00272 
5-Apr-23 Ordinary 998,748 0.00169 
14-Oct-22 Ordinary 1,548,356 0.00262 
5-Apr-22 Ordinary 1,548,356 0.00262 
15-Oct-21 Ordinary 1,548,356 0.00262 
1-Apr-21 Ordinary 868,741 0.00147 
16-Oct-20 Ordinary 871,717 0.00249 
6-Apr-20 Ordinary 1,015,254 0.00290 
18-Oct-19 Ordinary 870,943 0.00249 
5-April-19 Ordinary 607,537 0.00174 
19-Oct-18 Ordinary 467,652 0.00134 
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14.5.2 JMD Preference Dividends 
 
 

 
RECORD OF PREFERENCE DIVIDENDS DECLARED AND PAID: TRANCHE 1 
 

 
Payment Date 
  

Class 
  

Total (J$) 
  

Per Unit (J$) 
  

30-Jun-24 Preference 6,927,946 2.13 

31-Mar-24 Preference 6,927,946 2.13 

31-Dec-23 Preference 6,927,946 2.13 

30-Sep-23 Preference 6,927,946 2.13 

30-June-23 Preference 6,927,946 2.13 

31-Mar-23 
  

Preference 
  

6,927,946 
  

2.13 
  

31-Dec-22 
  

Preference 
  

6,927,946 
  

2.13 
  

30-Sep-22 
  

Preference 
  

6,194,446 
  

1.90 
  

 
 
14.5.3 US$ Indexed Preference Dividends 
 
 

 
RECORD OF PREFERENCE DIVIDENDS DECLARED AND PAID: TRANCHE 2 (US INDEXED) 
  
Payment Date 
  

Class 
  

Total (US$) 
  

Per Unit (US$) 
  

30-Jun-24 Preference 43,317 0.15 

31-Mar-24 Preference 43,317 0.15 

31-Dec-23 Preference 43,317 0.15 

30-Sep-23 Preference 43,317 0.15 
30-June-23 Preference 43,317 0.15 
31-Mar-23 Preference 43,317 0.15 
31-Dec-22 Preference 43,317 0.15 
30-Sep-22 Preference 24,685 0.09 

 



SYGNUS CREDIT INVESTMENT LIMITED  |  SCI Perpetual Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares PROSPECTUS 
 

 
 

 

52 
 

14.5.4 JMD$ Preference Shares – Class C Dividends 
 
 

 
RECORD OF PREFERENCE DIVIDENDS DECLARED AND PAID: CLASS C (JMD) 
 

Payment Date 
 

Class 
 

Total (JMD$) 
 

Per Unit (JMD$) 
 

30-Jun-24 Preference 46,200,000 2.89 

31-Mar-24 Preference 46,200,000 2.89 

 
 
14.5.5 US$ Preference Shares – Class D Dividends 
 
 

 
RECORD OF PREFERENCE DIVIDENDS DECLARED AND PAID: CLASS D (US) 
 

Payment Date 
 

Class 
 

Total (US$) 
 

Per Unit (US$) 
 

30-Jun-24 Preference 369,178 0.22 

31-Mar-24 Preference 369,178 0.22 

 
 
14.5.6 US$ Preference Shares – Class E Dividends 
 
 

RECORD OF PREFERENCE DIVIDENDS DECLARED AND PAID: CLASS E (US) 
 

Payment Date 
 

Class 
 

Total (US$) 
 

Per Unit (US$) 
 

30-Jun-24 Preference 542,749 0.23 

31-Mar-24 Preference 542,749 0.23 

 

14.6 Further, the Company shall not pay any interim dividends on the common shares of the 
Company, if the Company has not paid dividends to the Preference Shareholders in accordance 
with the Dividend Rate and Dividend Frequency with respect to any single payment period or 
cumulatively for any number of payment periods. 

 
14.7 The Company reserves the right subject to compliance with applicable laws to accumulate the 

unpaid dividends on the Preference Shares 
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MATERIAL CONTRACTS  

  

14.8 The following contracts, not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business, have 
been entered into by the Company within the last two (2) years immediately preceding the date of 
issue of this Prospectus and is, or may be, material, namely: 

 

Date Counterparty Description 

May 11, 2023 Sygnus Capital 
Limited 

Amended and Restated Investment Management 
Agreement (IMA) 

October  2024 JMMB Securities 
Limited 

Engagement Letter appointing JMMB Securities Limited as 
Lead Broker for the Invitation 

 

The following contract, not being a contract entered into in the ordinary course of business, was 
entered into by the Company on the date stated below and is, or may be, material, namely 

 

Date Counterparty Description 

January 1, 2020 Sygnus Capital 
Limited 

Corporate Services Agreement pursuant to which SCL 
provides general corporate services to the Company 

 

 

LITIGATION 

 
14.9 The Company is not involved in any litigation, arbitration or other legal proceedings in Jamaica or 

in any other jurisdiction and the Directors of the Company are not aware of any circumstance 
which would give rise to any such litigation, arbitration or other proceedings. 
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SECTION 15  |  STATUTORY AND GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

 

15.1 Statutory Information required to be set out in this Prospectus by section 41 and the Third 
Schedule to the Companies Act and other general information follow. 

 
a) Sygnus Credit Investments Limited ("the Company") was incorporated in Saint Lucia on 

January 13, 2017, as an International Business Company ("IBC"). The Company 
registered office is located at McNamara Corporate Services Inc., 20 Micoud Street, 
Castries, Saint Lucia. The Company is a specialty credit investment company, dedicated 
to providing non-traditional financing to medium-sized firms across the Caribbean region.   

 
b) With reference to paragraph 1(1)(a) of Part 1 of the Third Schedule to the Companies Act 

(the “Act”), the Company has no founders, management or deferred shares. SCI has 
issued a managers’ preference shares, as described in this Prospectus. Paragraphs 
1(1)(b) and (c) of the same Part 1 of the Third Schedule to the Act do not apply, this 
Prospectus being issued more than two years after the date on which SCI was entitled to 
and actually commenced business. 

 
c) The Articles fix no shareholding qualification for the directors. 

 
d) The Articles contain the following provisions with respect to the remuneration of the 

Directors. 
 

81.  Subject to Article 122, the remuneration of the directors shall be such amount as 
the board of directors, or any appropriate committee of the board of directors, 
may determine. Such remuneration shall be deemed to accrue from day to day. 
The directors may also be paid all travelling, hotel and other expenses properly 
incurred by them in attending and returning from meetings of the directors or any 
committee of the directors or general meetings of the Company or in connection 
with the business of the Company. 

 
82. The shareholding qualification for directors may be fixed by the Company in 

general meeting, and unless and until so fixed no qualification shall be required. 
 

83.  A director of the Company may be or become a director or other officer of, or 
otherwise interested in, any Company promoted by the Company or in which the 
Company may be interested as shareholder or otherwise, and no such director 
shall be accountable to the Company for any remuneration or other benefits 
received by him as a director or officer of, or from his interest in, such other 
company unless the Company otherwise directs. 

 
93. (3) A director may hold any other office or place of profit under the Company 

(other than the office of auditor) in conjunction with his office of director for such 
period and on such terms (as to remuneration and otherwise) as the directors 
may determine and no director or intending director shall be disqualified by his 
office from contracting with the Company either with regard to his tenure of any 
such other office or place of profit or as vendor, purchaser or otherwise, nor shall 
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any such contract, or any contract or arrangement entered into by or on behalf of 
the Company in which any director is in any way interested, be liable to be 
avoided, nor shall any director so contracting or being so interested be liable to 
account to the Company for any profit realised by any such contract or 
arrangement by reason of such director holding that office or of the fiduciary 
relationship thereby established. 

 
93. (5) Any director may act by himself or his firm in a professional capacity for the 

Company, and he or his firm shall be entitled to remuneration for professional 
services as if he were not a director; provided that nothing herein contained shall 
authorise a director or his firm to act as auditor to the Company. 

 
98.  The directors, on behalf of the Company, may pay a gratuity or pension or 

allowance on retirement to any director who has held any other salaried office or 
place of profit with the Company or to his widow or dependents and may make 
contributions to any fund and pay premiums for the purchase or provision of any 
such gratuity, pension or allowance. 

 
122.  A Managing Director shall receive such remuneration (whether by way of salary, 

commission or participation in profits, or partly in one way and partly in another) 
as the board of directors, or any appropriate committee of the board of directors, 
may determine. 

 
e) The Opening Date: November 25, 2024 

 
f) The Closing Date: December 20, 2024 

 
g) The following Preference Shares are being made available for subscription by 

prospective investors: 

• JMD Perpetual Cumulative Redeemable Class H Preference Shares (“Class H”) 
• USD Perpetual Cumulative Redeemable Class I Preference Shares (“Class I”) 

 
h) The names and descriptions of the Directors of the Company are indicated in Section 12 

of this Prospectus 
 

i) The minimum amount required to be raised out of the proceeds of the Invitation to 
provide for the matters set out in paragraph 2 of Part 1 of the Third Schedule to the 
Companies Act (the “minimum subscription”) is US$[10,000,000.00].  

 
j) No previous invitations/offers with respect to shares in the Company have been made by 

the Company to the public other than:  
 

i. In April 2018 the Company carried out a successful Initial Public Offering (“IPO”) 
of 90,909,091 Ordinary Shares in two classes, namely US$ and J$ shares. The 
IPO was =oversubscribed and consequently upsized by a further 99,908,949 
Shares. In all, the Company allotted 190,818,040 Shares in the IPO. On June 18, 
2018, both the Company’s US$ Shares and J$ Shares were respectively listed 
on the JSE’s US$ denominated Main Market and J$ denominated Main Market. 
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ii. In December 2020, the Company carried out a successful Additional Public Offer 
(“APO”) of 240,887,900 Ordinary Share in two classes namely US$ and J$ 
shares. 

iii. In December 2023, the Company successfully completed a Cumulative 
redeemable preference share offer of 20,000,000 preference shares across three 
classes namely, a two-year J$ class and two US$ classes with two- and three-
year tenors respectively. 

 
k) The prices with respect to the Preference Shares available for subscription are: 

 
CLASS 

 
NO. OF 
SHARES 

 
PRICE PER 
SHARE 

 
DIVIDEND 
YIELD 

 
CALL 
OPTION 

 
DOLLAR VALUE 
OF SHARES 
 

H 12,000,000 J$100 10.00% 15 Years J$1,200,000,000.00 

I 2,000,000 US$10 [8.00% 15 Years US$20,000,000.00 

 
l) All Applicants will be required to pay in full the price per Preference Share along with the JCSD 

processing fees as specified in this Prospectus. No further sum will be payable by any Applicant 
with respect to Preference Shares under any Application. 

 
m) Details as to investments, bank loans and any other indebtedness of the Company (if any) are 

indicated by the Latest Audited Accounts. 
 

n) The proceeds from the Invitation will be paid to the Company. The Company expects to pay the 
expenses of the Invitation out of the proceeds of the Invitation, and the Company estimates that 
such expenses will not exceed US$[1,375,000.00] (inclusive of brokerage fees, legal fees, 
marketing expenses, Companies Registrars’ fees, initial fees and GCT).   

 
o) By virtue of the Latest Audited Accounts the name and addresses of the auditors to the Company 

are as set out in such Audited Accounts.  
 

p) As far as the Company is aware, the Company is not engaged in any material litigation, nor is it 
aware of any pending litigation. 

 
q) The amount for goodwill, patent, or trademarks shown in the Audited Accounts is nil.    

 
r) No real property is currently proposed to be purchased or acquired by the Company and paid for 

wholly or partly out of the proceeds of this Invitation for the purposes of paragraphs 6 to 9 
(inclusive) of Part 1 of the Third Schedule of the Companies Act. 

 
s) Save as set out in paragraph 14 above, within the 2 preceding years, no commissions have been 

paid, nor will any be payable to anyone for subscribing or agreeing to subscribe or procuring or 
agreeing to procure subscriptions for any shares or debentures of the Company. 

 
t) The issue is not underwritten. 
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u) The name and address of the auditors of the Company are:  
KPMG  
Suite No. 2 
Rodney Bayside Building 
Rodney Bay, Gros Islet 
Saint Lucia 

 

 

SECTION 16  |  CONSENTS 
 

 

16.1 KPMG, the Auditors of the Company, have given and have not withdrawn their written consent (a 
copy of which is attached as Appendix 4) to the issue of this Prospectus with the inclusion therein 
of (i) a copy of their Auditors’ Report dated November 8, 2024 (ii) the complete audited financial 
statements of the Company for the year ended [June 30, 2024] and (iii) references to their name 
in the form and context in which they are included.  

16.2 The Directors of the Company have given and have not withdrawn their written consent to the 
issue of the Prospectus and the inclusion therein of all material facts relevant to the Company as 
required by the Act. 
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SECTION 17  |  DOCUMENTS AVAILABLE FOR INSPECTION 
 

 

17.1 During the period that the Preference Shares Invitation remains open for subscription for Shares, 
the following documents will be available for inspection on any weekday during the hours of 9:00 
am to 4:30 pm, at the office of Sygnus Capital Limited 80 LMR, 80 Lady Musgrave Road, 
Kingston 10; namely: 

a. the Memorandum and amended Articles of Association of the Company; 

b. written consent of the Auditors, KPMG; 

c. the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for years ended June 30, 2020 to June 30, 
2024; 

d. copies of the Material Contracts referred to in herein;  

e. copy of the International Business Companies Act of Saint Lucia. 
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SECTION 18  |  SIGNATURES OF DIRECTORS OF COMPANY 
 

 

18.1 The Directors of the Company whose signatures appear below are individually and collectively 
responsible for the contents of the Prospectus and each has signed same pursuant to a 
resolution of the Directors of the Company authorizing the issue of this Prospectus as at the date 
first hereinbefore stated. 

  
 

 
DIRECTORS 

 
SIGNATURE 

 
Linval Freeman 

 

 
Ike Johnson 

 

 
Peter Thompson 

 

 
Ian Williams 

 

 
Damian Chin 

 

 
Hope Fisher 

 

 
Horace Messado 
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SECTION 19  |  APPLICATION PROCEDURE 
 
 

Applications 
 
19.1 Applications for Shares shall be made through the Jamaica Money Market Broker’s 

Moneyline™ Platform (see Appendix 3 for details). Payment for US$ Shares and J$ Shares 
subscribed for must be made in US$ and J$ respectively (subject to the right of the 
Company to accept payment for Shares in either currency). Prospective investors who do 
not have access to the Moneyline™ Platform may contact their respective brokers for 
instructions on how to apply for shares. 

19.2 If needed, additional copies of this Prospectus may be obtained from the websites of the 
Lead Arranger and Lead Broker (www.sygnusgroup.com and https://jm.jmmb.com/ ) and will 
be sent to the JSE. The JSE may elect to publish the Prospectus on its website 
(www.jamstockex.com). Assistance in completing an Application may be obtained from any 
such stockbroker, securities dealer or investment adviser. 

19.3 The Company reserves the right to reject multiple applications and if multiple applications 
are received, only the first application in time may be processed.  

 

Terms and Conditions of all Applications 
 
19.4 All Applications for Shares are subject to the following terms and conditions: 
 

(a) Neither the submission of an Application by an Applicant nor its receipt by the 
Company will result in a binding contract between the Applicant and the Company. 
Only the allotment of Shares by the Company to an Applicant (whether such Shares 
represent all or part of those specified by the Applicant in his/her Application) will result 
in a binding contract under which the Applicant will be deemed to have agreed to 
subscribe for the number of allotted Shares at the Subscription Price, subject to these 
terms and conditions. 

 
(b) The subscription in the Preference Share Invitation will open at 9:00 a.m. on 

[November 25, 2024] and will close at 4:30 p.m. on [December 20, 2024] subject to the 
right of the Company to close the Subscription List at any time if subscriptions have 
been received for the full amount of the Shares available for subscription and subject 
also to the right of the Company to extend the closing beyond that date subject to 
Section 48 of the Companies Act, 2004. In the event of an early closing or an 
extension of the closing, notice will be posted on the website of the Jamaica Stock 
Exchange (www.jamstockex.com). 

 
(c) Applications made must be for a minimum of 500 units for the J$ shares and 50 units 

for the US$ shares. Applications for amounts in excess of the minimum subscription 
must be in multiples of [100] shares for the J$ Shares and [10] shares for the US$ 
Shares. The Company reserves the right to accept or reject Applications for amounts 
in other denominations. 

 
(d) Online application for Shares must be made through Jamaica Money Market Broker’s 

Moneyline™ Portal by following the instructions set out in Appendix 3. 
 

http://www.sygnusgroup.com/
https://jm.jmmb.com/


SYGNUS CREDIT INVESTMENT LIMITED  |  SCI Perpetual Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares PROSPECTUS 
 

 
 

 

61 
 

(e) Receipts will not be issued for sums received as payment for Shares; All Shares 
allotted to successful applicants will be held in the JCSD and credited to an account in 
the JCSD in the name of the applicant within 10 days of the closing date of the 
subscription list. Evidence of the applicant's holding of Shares will be provided by 
statements generated by the JCSD and mailed to the applicant at the address 
indicated on their Application. If any subscription is not accepted or is accepted for 
fewer than the number of Shares applied for, the subscription monies, or the balance 
thereof as the case may be, will be refunded within 10 days of the Closing Date. 

 
(f) Applicants must be at least 18 years old. However, Applicants who have not yet 

attained the age of eighteen (18) years, may apply jointly with Applicants who are at 
least eighteen (18) years of age. 

 
(g) The Company reserves the right to reject, in whole or in part, any subscription and to 

allot less than the amount of Shares applied for by an applicant. 
 
(h) The Company reserves the right to withdraw the Preference Share Invitation by notice 

published in at least one of the local daily newspapers and on the JSE website. The 
Company also reserves the right to reject any application if any of the conditions for 
application set out in this Prospectus is not met. 

 
(i) By submitting an Application, a prospective investor shall be deemed to represent to 

the Company and the Directors and agree with him that: 
 
(i) he has read and understood or has had the opportunity to read and understand this 

Prospectus (including the terms and conditions in this Section 19) and to gather and 
review all additional information considered by him/her to be necessary to verify the 
accuracy of the information contained in this Prospectus; 

 
(ii) he has not relied on the Company or any other persons connected thereto with his 

investigation of the accuracy of such information or his investment decision; 
 
(iii) no person connected with the Company has made any representation concerning the 

Company or this Prospectus not contained in this Prospectus, on which the Applicant 
has relied in submitting his Application; 

 
(iv) he has made his own assessment of the Company, and the merits and risks of 

subscribing for Shares, inclusive of taking advice (or waiving the need for such advice) 
in relation to the financial and legal implication of subscribing for Shares and tax 
implications thereof; 

 
(v) he has accepted the terms and conditions set out in this Prospectus, including in any 

Appendix hereto; 
 
(vi) the Directors may take all such further requisite action without further reference to him 

or stockholders to secure the listing of the Shares on the Main Market of the JSE and 
the completion of all matters relating to this Preference Share Invitation; 

 
(vii) he will be deemed to have offered to purchase from the Company the number of 

Shares applied for in his Application (or such lesser number which may be allotted to 
him by the Directors) on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth herein and 
subject further to the Articles of Association of the Company. 

 
(j) Successful Applicants will be allotted Shares for credit to their account in the Jamaica 

Central Securities Depository specified in their Application. Applicants may refer to the 
confirmation instructions that will be posted on the website of the Jamaica Stock 
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Exchange (www.jamstockex.com) after the Closing Date. Applicants who wish to 
receive share certificates must make a specific request. 

 
(k) Save as to the requirement for a minimum subscription of 500 units for the J$ shares 

and 50 units for the US$ shares and that subscription in excess of the minimum 
subscription must be in multiples of [100] shares for the J$ Shares and [10] shares for 
the US$ Shares, there is no restriction as to the number of Shares for which an 
Applicant may apply for, subject to provisions of any law or regulation which may 
impose conditions or restrictions on certain persons, such as approved superannuation 
funds as to their investment in shares and certain securities. 

 
(l) The Company will refund amounts to Applicants whose Applications are not accepted, 

or whose Applications are only accepted in part, to the account stated by the Applicant  
(or in the case of multiple Applicants by the first-named joint Applicant) stated in the 
Application within 10 (ten) working days after the Closing Date (or the extended 
Closing Date, as the case may be) or as soon as practicable thereafter. If an Applicant 
so indicates in his Application a refund cheque will be sent to the JCSD for collection 
by the Applicant (or by the first-named joint Applicant) stated in the Application. Any 
other persons purporting to collect a cheque on behalf of the Applicant must be 
authorised in writing by the Applicant(s) to do so. All refunds of a quantum greater than 
the RTGS threshold of $1 Million will be refunded via RTGS to the account of origin. 
Please note that the JCSD processing fee of J$172.50 (inclusive of GCT) will not be 
refunded. 

 
(m) Within six (6) days after close of the Subscription List, the Company shall give notice 

to the JSE of the basis of allocation and the list of allottees will be delivered to the JSE 
within ten (10) days after the allotment. 

 
Acceptance of Applications 
 

19.5 Applications that meet the requirements set out in this Prospectus shall be accepted on a 
“first come first served basis”. All Applications will be time-stamped to indicate the date and 
time it was received. If Applications are received before the Application List opens at 9.00 
a.m. on November 25, 2024, then such Applications will, for allotment purposes, be stamped 
as received at 9.00 a.m. on November 25, 2024 being the date of the opening of the 
Subscription List. 
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SECTION 20  |  APPENDICES 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

APPENDIX 1 
 

Terms of Issue  
 

[see next page] 
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TERMS OF ISSUE OF 10% FIXED RATE 
JMD PREFERENCE SHARES 

 
SYGNUS CREDIT INVESTMENTS Limited 

(the “Company”) 
 

[see next page] 
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SYGNUS CREDIT INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

(the “Company”) 
 

10.00% J$ PERPETUAL CUMULATIVE CLASS H PREFERENCE SHARES 
  

Terms of Issue 
 

In these Terms of Issue:  
 
“Agreed Rate” means 10.00% per annum (on a 30/360-day year basis);   
 
“Business Day” means a day, not being a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday when banks are open 
for business in Jamaica; 
 
“IFRS” means International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted and applied generally in 
Jamaica; 
 
“Paying Agent” means any paying agent and registrar engaged by the Company to discharge paying 
agent and/or registrar roles/functions for the benefit of Preference Shareholders; 
 
“Material Adverse Change” means any event, development or circumstance that has had or would 
reasonably be expected to have in the opinion of the holder(s) of Preference Shares a Material 
Adverse Effect; 
 
“Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on (a) the business, condition (financial 
or otherwise) operations, performance or prospects of the Company and its subsidiaries, which would 
negatively affect the ability of the Company  to perform and discharge its obligations in relation to the 
Preference Shares; (b) the validity, legality or enforceability of  the terms hereof  (c) the rights and 
remedies of the holder(s) of Preference Shares under these terms; or (d) the ability of the Company  
to perform and discharge its obligations with respect to the Preference Shares; 
 
“Optional Redemption Date” means the date when the Company shall be at liberty to require that the 
Preference Shares held by the holder thereof be redeemed by the Company pursuant to these Terms 
of Issue, being (i) on the first occasion the last Business Day of the financial year of the Company 
occurring immediately prior to the fifteenth (15th) anniversary of the date of issue of the Preference 
Shares; and (ii) the last Business Day of the financial year which falls immediately prior to every three 
(3) years thereafter; 
 
“Optional Redemption Notice” means the notice issued by the Company to the holders of Preference 
Shares by which the Company shall exercise the right to redeem the Preference Shares in accordance 
with these Terms; 
 
“Optional Redemption Price” means the higher of (i) the then prevailing market price for the 
Preference Shares at the time of issue of the Optional Redemption Notice and the Subscription Price 
paid for the Preference Shares; 
 
“Preference Shares” means the 10.00% J$ Cumulative Redeemable Class H Preference Shares the 
subject of these Terms of Issue; 
 
“Subscription Price” J$100.00 per Preference Share. 
The Preference Shares in the capital of the Company, each with a par value of J$100.00, subject 
as hereinafter provided, perpetual as to tenor, the same to be issued at the Subscription Price 
shall be denominated “10.00% Fixed Rate J$ Perpetual Cumulative Redeemable Class H 
Preference Shares” conferring upon the registered holders thereof the following rights and 
shall be subject to the following restrictions, namely: 
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(a) The right to a cumulative preferential dividend on each Preference Share calculated as 

follows: 
 
Agreed Rate x the Subscription Price,  
the same  to be paid by way of quarterly interim dividends,  on March 30, June 30, September 
30, and December 31 in each year (commencing December 31, 2024) in J$, PROVIDED 
THAT (i) such dividends shall be paid from the distributable profits of the Company (from time 
to time determined by the Board of Directors of the Company) and not otherwise (ii) such  date 
for payment aforesaid shall  follow declaration by the Board of Directors of the Company and 
processing by the  Paying Agent and Registrar engaged by the Company to attend to, inter 
alia, payments to registered holders; and (iii) in the event that such date for payment  is not a 
Business Day, then subject as hereinbefore stated, the preferential dividend  shall be made 
on the next succeeding Business Day (unless that day falls in the next calendar month in which 
event such payment shall be made on the immediately preceding Business Day);  
 

(b) Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary herein, accrued and unpaid dividends will 
accumulate, the same to be paid on the next succeeding quarterly payment date; 
 

(c) In the event of a dissolution, winding-up or liquidation of the Company, each holder of   
Preference Shares shall be entitled to repayment in priority to any payment to the holders of 
ordinary shares and pari passu with all other preference shares in the capital of the Company 
concerning the preferential dividend payment and any arrears of the preferential dividend 
payment  attaching to the Preference Shares that is due to be paid, at the Agreed Rate;  

 
(d) The Preference Shares enjoy the additional rights set forth in the SCHEDULE 1, in each case 

to be strictly observed; 
 

(e) The Company may, without the consent or sanction of  the holders of Preference Shares 
create and issue further preference shares in the capital of the Company or debt, which rank 
senior or pari passu and identical in all respects so as to form one class with the existing 
Preference Shares, or ranking pari passu therewith as regards priority in respect of income 
and/or capital but carrying a different rate of dividend or otherwise differing from the 
Preference Shares (the subject of this Terms of Issue). For greater certainty, the Company 
shall be at liberty to issue different classes of Preference Shares with terms and conditions 
attaching thereto as shall differ from the Class H Preference Shares; 

 
(f) The Preference Shares shall be issued as perpetual cumulative Preference Shares and 

subject to the provisions contained in applicable law (the “Applicable Law”) (as the same may 
be amended from time to time) redemption of such Preference Shares by the Company only, 
shall be effected in the manner and on the terms following: 

 
(g) The Company may, by notice in writing to the Preference Shareholders, served not less than 

ninety (90) days prior to the Optional Redemption Date, require that the relevant Preference 
Shares be redeemed on or immediately following the Optional Redemption Date paying in 
relation to the same, the respective Optional Redemption Price.  Such notice shall fix the time 
for redemption (being the earliest possible Business Day following the Optional Redemption 
Date); 

 
(h) Any notice issued pursuant to paragraph (f) (i) shall be in writing and be irrevocable, the same 

to be in such form as the Company shall determine, acting reasonably.  Redemption pursuant 
to any such notice shall take place at the registered office of the Company;      

 
(i) At the time and place fixed for redemption of Preference Shares:  
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a. the registered holder, if such registered holder is the holder of Preference Shares by 
virtue of an allotment by the Company (the “original holder”) or a transferee from the 
original holder, shall (in the event that the Preference Shares are certificated, but not 
otherwise) be bound to deliver up to the Company the relevant share certificate(s) with 
respect to the said Preference Shares for cancellation following redemption; and   
 

b. the Company shall take all required steps to effect payment of the Optional Redemption 
Price to each registered holder, thereby redeeming the Preference Shares in accordance 
with Applicable Law. 

 
(j) As from the time fixed for redemption of any of the Preference Shares under any notice given 

pursuant to paragraph (f) of these Terms of Issue, dividends shall cease to accrue on such 
Preference Shares; 
 

(k) If any registered holder of Preference Shares shall fail or refuse to surrender the certificate(s) 
for such Preference Shares (where such surrender is required) or shall fail or refuse to accept 
the Optional Redemption Price, at the time fixed for redemption of any of the Preference 
Shares under any notice given pursuant to paragraph (f) of these Terms of Issue, such money 
shall be retained and held by the Company in trust for such registered holder but without 
interest or further obligation whatever; 
 

(l) No Preference Shares shall be redeemed otherwise than out of distributable profits or the 
proceeds of a fresh issue of preference shares made for the purposes of the redemption as 
permitted by Applicable Law. 

 
 

(m) No Preference Shares redeemed by the Company shall be capable of re-issue and on 
redemption of any Preference Shares, the Directors may convert the authorised share capital 
created as a consequence of such redemption into shares and/or stock units of any other 
class of share capital into which the authorised share capital of the Company is or may at that 
time be divided of the same number as the shares and/or stock units of such class then in 
issue or into unclassified shares and/or stock units of the same number as the Preference 
Shares. 
 

(n) The rights attaching to the Preference Shares may not, except as expressly provided for in 
these Terms of Issue, be varied either while the Company is a going concern or during or in 
contemplation of a winding up of the Company without the consent in writing of the holders of 
three-fourths of the issued Preference Shares or without the sanction of a resolution passed 
at a separate meeting of that class by the holders of three-fourths of the issued Preference 
Shares of that class, but not otherwise. To every such separate meeting all of the provisions 
of the constitutive documents   of the Company relating to general meetings of the Company 
or to proceedings thereat shall, mutatis mutandis apply, except that the necessary quorum 
shall be two or more persons at least holding or representing by proxy in aggregate one-half 
in dollar value of the issued Preference Shares (but so that if at any adjourned meeting of 
such holders a quorum as above defined is not present those members who are present shall 
be a quorum) and that the holders of Preference Shares shall, on a poll, have one vote in 
respect of each Preference Share held by them respectively. 

 
(o) In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Terms of Issue and the constitutive 

documents of the Company, the former shall prevail. 
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SCHEDULE 1 
 

Additional Rights for the Benefit of the holders of Preference Shares 
 
The holders of Preference Shares shall enjoy the following rights:  
 
General Rights 
 
1. Priority of payment to receive all dividends over any form of capital distributions (e.g. ordinary 

dividends or share buybacks) to ordinary shareholders.  
2. Rank pari-passu between and amongst all existing preference shares issued by the Company. 

No existing or future issuances of preference shares shall rank senior to the Preference Shares.  
3. Rank pari passu to any future preference shares to be issued by the Company in respect of the 

right to receive dividends and the right to receive payments out of the assets of the Company 
upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company.  

4. Rank senior to the holders of the Company’s ordinary Shares and rank subordinated to the 
Company’s secured creditors.  

  
 
Reporting Requirements 
 
The Company shall procure that the following be observed by the Registrar and Paying Agent for 
distribution to the holders of Preference Shares:  
 
(a) quarterly unaudited consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS including the 

statement of financial position; statement of comprehensive income; statement of changes in 
equity; statement of cash flows as at the end of such 3 months period and summary related 
notes to the financial statements for the 3 months period then ended, setting forth in 
comparative form the figures for the similar 3 months in the prior fiscal year, within 45 days 
after the end of each 3 months period;  

(b) annual audited consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS including the 
statement of financial position; statement of comprehensive income; statement of changes in 
equity; statement of cash flows as at the end of such fiscal year and the related notes to the 
financial statements for the fiscal year then ended, setting forth in comparative form the figures 
for the immediately preceding fiscal year, within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year;  

(c) as soon as available, and in any event within five (5) Business Days after the Company has  
become aware thereof, notice and details of any material litigation, investigation or proceeding 
affecting the Company or its subsidiaries (if any) and which could have a Material Adverse 
Effect including for the avoidance of doubt any such litigation, investigation or proceeding 
involving a claim in excess of Five Hundred Thousand United States Dollars  (US$500,000.00) 
or its equivalent in any currency;  

(d) as soon as possible and in any event within two (2) days after the occurrence of or the 
Company becoming aware of a Material Adverse Change, a statement signed by the chief 
executive officer or chief financial officer of the Company setting forth details of such Material 
Adverse Change and the action that the Company has taken or proposes to take with respect 
thereto;  

(e) promptly after the commencement thereof, notice of all actions, proceedings, inquiries, official 
investigations or other regulatory proceedings before, or by, any court, governmental agency, 
regulatory and which could have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company;  

(f) promptly after request, such other relevant business or financial information that the holders 
of Preference Shares may from time to time reasonably request; and  

(g) in addition, the Company will be subject to the reporting requirements of the FSC.  
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[see next page] 
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SYGNUS CREDIT INVESTMENTS LIMITED 

(the “Company”) 
 

8.00% US$ PERPETUAL CUMULATIVE CLASS I PREFERENCE SHARES 
  

Terms of Issue 
 

In these Terms of Issue:  
 
“Agreed Rate” means 8.00% per annum (on a 30/360-day year basis);   
 
“Business Day” means a day, not being a Saturday, Sunday or public holiday when banks are open 
for business in Jamaica; 
 
“IFRS” means International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted and applied generally in 
Jamaica; 
 
“Paying Agent” means any paying agent and registrar engaged by the Company to discharge paying 
agent and/or registrar roles/functions for the benefit of Preference Shareholders; 
 
“Material Adverse Change” means any event, development or circumstance that has had or would 
reasonably be expected to have in the opinion of the holder(s) of Preference Shares a Material 
Adverse Effect; 
 
“Material Adverse Effect” means a material adverse effect on (a) the business, condition (financial 
or otherwise) operations, performance or prospects of the Company and its subsidiaries, which would 
negatively affect the ability of the Company  to perform and discharge its obligations in relation to the 
Preference Shares; (b) the validity, legality or enforceability of  the terms hereof  (c) the rights and 
remedies of the holder(s) of Preference Shares under these terms; or (d) the ability of the Company  
to perform and discharge its obligations with respect to the Preference Shares; 
 
“Optional Redemption Date” means the date when the Company shall be at liberty to require that the 
Preference Shares held by the holder thereof be redeemed by the Company pursuant to these Terms 
of Issue, being (i) on the first occasion the last Business Day of the financial year of the Company 
occurring immediately prior to the fifteenth (15th) anniversary of the date of issue of the Preference 
Shares; and (ii) the last Business Day of the financial year which falls immediately prior to every three 
(3) years thereafter; 
 
“Optional Redemption Notice” means the notice issued by the Company to the holders of Preference 
Shares by which the Company shall exercise the right to redeem the Preference Shares in accordance 
with these Terms; 
 
“Optional Redemption Price” means the higher of (i) the then prevailing market price for the 
Preference Shares at the time of issue of the Optional Redemption Notice and the Subscription Price 
paid for the Preference Shares; 
 
“Preference Shares” means the 8.00% US$ Cumulative Redeemable Class I Preference Shares the 
subject of these Terms of Issue; 
 
“Subscription Price” US$10.00 per Preference Share. 
The Preference Shares in the capital of the Company, each with a par value of US$10.00, subject 
as hereinafter provided, perpetual as to tenor, the same to be issued at the Subscription Price 
shall be denominated “8.00% Fixed Rate US$ Perpetual Cumulative Redeemable Class I 
Preference Shares” conferring upon the registered holders thereof the following rights and 
shall be subject to the following restrictions, namely: 
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(a) The right to a cumulative preferential dividend on each Preference Share calculated as 

follows: 
 

(b) Agreed Rate x the Subscription Price,  
 

(c) the same  to be paid by way of quarterly interim dividends,  on March 31, June 30, September 
30, and December 31 in each year (commencing March 31, 2024) in US$, PROVIDED THAT 
(i) such dividends shall be paid from the distributable profits of the Company (from time to time 
determined by the Board of Directors of the Company) and not otherwise (ii) such  date for 
payment aforesaid shall  follow declaration by the Board of Directors of the Company and 
processing by the  Paying Agent and Registrar engaged by the Company to attend to, inter 
alia, payments to registered holders; and (iii) in the event that such date for payment  is not a 
Business Day, then subject as hereinbefore stated, the preferential dividend  shall be made 
on the next succeeding Business Day (unless that day falls in the next calendar month in 
which event such payment shall be made on the immediately preceding Business Day);  

 
(d) Notwithstanding any provision to the contrary herein, accrued and unpaid dividends will 

accumulate, the same to be paid on the next succeeding quarterly payment date; 
 

(e) In the event of a dissolution, winding-up or liquidation of the Company, each holder of 
Preference Shares shall be entitled to repayment in priority to any payment to the holders of 
ordinary shares and pari passu with all other preference shares in the capital of the Company 
concerning the preferential dividend payment and any arrears of the preferential dividend 
payment attaching to the Preference Shares that is due to be paid, at the Agreed Rate;  

 
(f) The Preference Shares enjoy the additional rights set forth in the SCHEDULE 1, in each case 

to be strictly observed; 
 

(g) The Company may, without the consent or sanction of  the holders of Preference Shares 
create and issue further preference shares in the capital of the Company or debt, which rank 
senior or pari passu and identical in all respects so as to form one class with the existing 
Preference Shares, or ranking pari passu therewith as regards priority in respect of income 
and/or capital but carrying a different rate of dividend or otherwise differing from the 
Preference Shares (the subject of this Terms of Issue). For greater certainty, the Company 
shall be at liberty to issue different classes of Preference Shares with terms and conditions 
attaching thereto as shall differ from the Class I Preference Shares; 

 
(h) The Preference Shares shall be issued as perpetual cumulative Preference Shares and 

subject to the provisions contained in applicable law (the “Applicable Law”) (as the same may 
be amended from time to time) redemption of such Preference Shares by the Company only, 
shall be effected in the manner and on the terms following: 

 
(i) The Company may, by notice in writing to the Preference Shareholders, served not less than 

ninety (90) days prior to the Optional Redemption Date, require that the relevant Preference 
Shares be redeemed on or immediately following the Optional Redemption Date paying in 
relation to the same, the respective Optional Redemption Price.  Such notice shall fix the time 
for redemption (being the earliest possible Business Day following the Optional Redemption 
Date); 

 
(j) Any notice issued pursuant to paragraph (f) (i) shall be in writing and be irrevocable, the same 

to be in such form as the Company shall determine, acting reasonably.  Redemption pursuant 
to any such notice shall take place at the registered office of the Company;      

 
(k) At the time and place fixed for redemption of Preference Shares:  
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a. the registered holder, if such registered holder is the holder of Preference Shares by 
virtue of an allotment by the Company (the “original holder”) or a transferee from the 
original holder, shall (in the event that the Preference Shares are certificated, but not 
otherwise) be bound to deliver up to the Company the relevant share certificate(s) with 
respect to the said Preference Shares for cancellation following redemption; and   

b. the Company shall take all required steps to effect payment of the Optional Redemption 
Price to each registered holder, thereby redeeming the Preference Shares in accordance 
with Applicable Law. 

 
(l) As from the time fixed for redemption of any of the Preference Shares under any notice given 

pursuant to paragraph (f) of these Terms of Issue, dividends shall cease to accrue on such 
Preference Shares; 
 

(m) If any registered holder of Preference Shares shall fail or refuse to surrender the certificate(s) 
for such Preference Shares (where such surrender is required) or shall fail or refuse to accept 
the Optional Redemption Price, at the time fixed for redemption of any of the Preference 
Shares under any notice given pursuant to paragraph (f) of these Terms of Issue, such money 
shall be retained and held by the Company in trust for such registered holder but without 
interest or further obligation whatever; 

 
(n) No Preference Shares shall be redeemed otherwise than out of distributable profits or the 

proceeds of a fresh issue of preference shares made for the purposes of the redemption as 
permitted by Applicable Law. 

 
(o) No Preference Shares redeemed by the Company shall be capable of re-issue and on 

redemption of any Preference Shares, the Directors may convert the authorised share capital 
created as a consequence of such redemption into shares and/or stock units of any other 
class of share capital into which the authorised share capital of the Company is or may at that 
time be divided of the same number as the shares and/or stock units of such class then in 
issue or into unclassified shares and/or stock units of the same number as the Preference 
Shares. 

 
(p) The rights attaching to the Preference Shares may not, except as expressly provided for in 

these Terms of Issue, be varied either while the Company is a going concern or during or in 
contemplation of a winding up of the Company without the consent in writing of the holders of 
three-fourths of the issued Preference Shares or without the sanction of a resolution passed 
at a separate meeting of that class by the holders of three-fourths of the issued Preference 
Shares of that class, but not otherwise. To every such separate meeting all of the provisions 
of the constitutive documents   of the Company relating to general meetings of the Company 
or to proceedings thereat shall, mutatis mutandis apply, except that the necessary quorum 
shall be two or more persons at least holding or representing by proxy in aggregate one-half 
in dollar value of the issued Preference Shares (but so that if at any adjourned meeting of 
such holders a quorum as above defined is not present those members who are present shall 
be a quorum) and that the holders of Preference Shares shall, on a poll, have one vote in 
respect of each Preference Share held by them respectively. 

 
(q) In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Terms of Issue and the constitutive 

documents of the Company, the former shall prevail. 
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SCHEDULE 1 

 
Additional Rights for the Benefit of the holders of Preference Shares 

 
The holders of Preference Shares shall enjoy the following rights:  
 
General Rights 
 

1. Priority of payment to receive all dividends over any form of capital distributions (e.g. ordinary 
dividends or share buybacks) to ordinary shareholders.  

 
2. Priority of payment to receive all dividends over any form of capital distributions (e.g. ordinary 

dividends or share buybacks) to ordinary shareholders. 
 

3. Rank pari-passu between and amongst all existing preference shares issued by the Company. 
No existing or future issuances of preference shares shall rank senior to the Preference 
Shares. 

 
4. Rank pari passu to any future preference shares to be issued by the Company in respect of 

the right to receive dividends and the right to receive payments out of the assets of the 
Company upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the 
Company.  

 
5. Rank senior to the holders of the Company’s ordinary Shares and rank subordinated to the 

Company’s secured creditors.  
  
Reporting Requirements 
 
The Company shall procure that the following be observed by the Registrar and Paying Agent for 
distribution to the holders of Preference Shares:  
 
a) quarterly unaudited consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS including the 

statement of financial position; statement of comprehensive income; statement of changes in 
equity; statement of cash flows as at the end of such 3 months period and summary related 
notes to the financial statements for the 3 months period then ended, setting forth in 
comparative form the figures for the similar 3 months in the prior fiscal year, within 45 days 
after the end of each 3 months period;  

b) annual audited consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS including the 
statement of financial position; statement of comprehensive income; statement of changes in 
equity; statement of cash flows as at the end of such fiscal year and the related notes to the 
financial statements for the fiscal year then ended, setting forth in comparative form the figures 
for the immediately preceding fiscal year, within 90 days after the end of each fiscal year;  

c) as soon as available, and in any event within five (5) Business Days after the Company has  
become aware thereof, notice and details of any material litigation, investigation or proceeding 
affecting the Company or its subsidiaries (if any) and which could have a Material Adverse 
Effect including for the avoidance of doubt any such litigation, investigation or proceeding 
involving a claim in excess of Five Hundred Thousand United States Dollars  (US$500,000.00) 
or its equivalent in any currency;  

d) as soon as possible and in any event within two (2) days after the occurrence of or the 
Company becoming aware of a Material Adverse Change, a statement signed by the chief 
executive officer or chief financial officer of the Company setting forth details of such Material 
Adverse Change and the action that the Company has taken or proposes to take with respect 
thereto;  
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e) promptly after the commencement thereof, notice of all actions, proceedings, inquiries, official 
investigations or other regulatory proceedings before, or by, any court, governmental agency, 
regulatory and which could have a Material Adverse Effect on the Company;  

f) promptly after request, such other relevant business or financial information that the holders 
of Preference Shares may from time to time reasonably request; and  

g) in addition, the Company will be subject to the reporting requirements of the FSC.  
 

[REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY] 
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Appendix 2 
2024 Audited Financial 

Statements 
 

Audited Financial Statements for FY2024 

[SEE NEXT PAGE] 
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Appendix 3 – JMMB’s Moneyline Application Procedures  
 
 
PART I 
 
How To Apply – JMMB Clients 
 
Applications shall be submitted via JMMB’s Moneyline™ platform using an Equity Money Market Fund 
Account (EMMA™) by completing the steps below:  
 
1. STEP 1  
 

(a) From your browser, go to the JMMB Moneyline™ website which can be accessed at              
https://moneyline.jmmb.com/personal/; 

 
(b) Enter your username and password then select ‘Login’; 

 
(c) Enter your security question then press ‘Continue’, to begin your Moneyline™ session; 

 
(d) From the main menu select ‘Transactions’, then select ‘New Transaction’ from the drop-down  

         menu; 
 

(e) Select ‘Buy Stocks’, for the transaction type;  
 

(f) Select the EMMA™ account that you would like to make the purchase from. This EMMA™ 
account must be funded with the payment for the full amount payable for the respective 
Ordinary Shares applied for, plus the JCSD flat fee of J$172.50 per Application; 

 
(g) Select ‘IPO’, and all available IPOs will be displayed. Choose IPO you wish to apply for from 

the list, then press ‘Continue’;  
 

(h) You will be navigated to the ‘Order Details’ page, where you will be able to enter the quantity 
of Ordinary Shares you would like to purchase. The order type automatically defaults to the 
market price;  

 
(i) You can also save a note to yourself about your transaction using the Personal Note section;  

 
(j) Please confirm your agreement with the terms and conditions in the IPO Prospectus, by 

pressing ‘Continue’;  
 

(k) If you have joint holders, a pop-up will appear to inform you that joint holders over the age of 
18 years must indicate approval of this transaction to complete processing; and that instructions 
will be sent to joint account holders via email;  

 
(l) You will be sent to the ‘Order Summary’ page, for review. You may then press the ‘Back’ button 

to revise the transaction; ‘Continue’ to approve the transaction; or ‘Save and Add Another’, if 
you would like to include additional stock purchases;  

 
(m) Once you have selected ‘Continue’, enter your PIN, then select ‘Process All Transactions’; and 

 
(n) The status column for the Transaction Results will indicate that the transaction has been 

submitted.  
 

 
 

https://moneyline.jmmb.com/personal/
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2. STEP 2: JOINT ACCOUNT HOLDER APPROVAL PROCESS  
 

(a) As a joint account holder, you do not need Moneyline™ access to be able to approve the 
IPO Application. Joint account holders will receive an email with the link to approve the 
Application order and an access code;  

 
(b) Enter the last three digits of your TRN and the access code in the form provided and click 

‘Submit’;  
 

(c) Review the Application order and confirm your agreement to the terms and conditions in 
the prospectus, by clicking the ‘Approve Purchase’ button; and 

 
(d) You will be navigated to the confirmation page, stating that the IPO transaction was 

approved.  
 

JMMB clients who have a stock brokerage (EMMA) account but do not have JMMB 
Moneyline access may self-register at http://bit.ly/MoneylineNew. 

 
Interested Applicants who do not have a stock brokerage account or do not have a JMMB 
account may call JMMB’s Client Care Centre at 876-998-JMMB (5662), between the hours 
of 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. for assistance in opening a stock brokerage account or a JMMB 
account. Interested Applicants may also open a JMMB account online at 
https://jm.jmmb.com/account-opening-personal. 

 
 
How To Apply – Non-JMMB Clients 
 
Applications shall be submitted via JMMB MoneylineIPO™ platform after creating a profile using your 
Jamaica Central Securities Depository Limited (JCSD) account registered with any broker excluding JMMB 
by completing the steps below:  
 
1. STEP 1  
 

(a) From your browser, go to the JMMB MoneylineIPO™ platform which can be accessed at 
https://moneylineipo.jmmb.com;  

 
(b) Select ‘Register Now’ to register using your first name, last name, date of birth, JCSD 

Depend Account number, tax ID number, and select the corresponding broker; 
 

(c) Complete ID verification using a valid passport, driver’s license or national ID; 
 

(d) Create a profile by entering a username, password, mobile number and email address; 
 

(e) Once registered, please enter your username and password then select ‘Login’; 
 

(f) First, you will be required to provide a Refund account that JMMB will send funds to in the 
event that you are to be refunded. 

  
(g) Go to the Profile screen then select the ‘Refund Account’ tab. 

 
(h) Select ‘Add New Refund Account’ and enter the required account details for your refund 

account then select ‘Save’. 
 

(i) Once your Refund Account is saved, return to the homepage/dashboard and select “Apply 
Now” on the applicable IPO card. 

http://bit.ly/MoneylineNew
https://moneylineipo.jmmb.com/


SYGNUS CREDIT INVESTMENT LIMITED  |  SCI Perpetual Cumulative Redeemable Preference Shares PROSPECTUS 
 

 
 

 

160 
 

 
(j) Confirm that the correct IPO is pre-selected in the “Choose IPO” field. If not, select the 

“Choose IPO” field and choose the desired IPO from the drop-down list that appears. 
 

(k) Select the JCSD account that you would like to apply from. 
 

(l) Select the Refund Account that you wish to associate with the order. 
  

(m) Select the Share Pool that you would like to purchase shares from. 
 

(n) You can either enter the quantity of shares you would like to purchase or enter the dollar 
value of the amount you would like to purchase (inclusive of fees). The quantity of shares 
entered, or the dollar value equivalent must be in congruence with the minimum order 
amount and increment units outlined in the Prospectus. 

 
(o) You can also save a note to yourself about your transaction using the Personal Note 

section;  
 

(p) Please confirm your agreement with the terms and conditions of the IPO Prospectus by 
selecting the checkbox next to the terms and conditions, then select ‘Proceed’;  

 
(q) You will be sent to the Order Summary page, for review. There you may either click the 

pencil icon to edit the application, select ‘Process Application’ to submit the application; or 
‘Cancel’ if you would like to cancel the application;  

 
(r) Once you have selected ‘Process Application’, a pop-up message will appear showing the 

order details. 
 

(s) You will be sent to the dashboard where you will see the order displayed below the ‘My 
Applications’. The status column will indicate if action is required for the order to be 
Approved for submission to the Stock Exchange. 

(t) If you have joint holders, an email will be sent to inform you that joint holders over the age 
of 18 years must indicate approval of this transaction to complete processing; and that 
instructions to approve the application will be sent to your joint account holders who have 
already completed identity verification. 

 
 
2. STEP 2: JOINT ACCOUNT HOLDER APPROVAL PROCESS  
 
As a joint account holder, you do not need a JMMB MoneylineIPO™ login to be able to approve the 
applications. Joint holders are simply required to verify their identity using the link sent via email once the 
registered user provides an email address for his/her joint account holder(s). Joint account holders who 
have completed identity verification will receive an email with the order details, an access code and the link 
to approve the Application by completing the steps below: 
 

(a) Review the order details in the body of the email. 
 

(b) Click the link in the email to be able to approve or decline the order. 
 

(c) Enter the last three digits of your TRN and the access code in the respective fields. 
 

(d) Select ‘Approve’ to approve the transaction or ‘Decline’ to decline the transaction. 
 

(e) A pop-up box will appear asking you to confirm your selection, click ‘OK’ to confirm. 
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Joint account holders who have not completed identity verification will be able to approve orders with the 
steps outlined below: 
 

(a) The registered user who placed the order downloads the Joint Holder Approval Form from 
either: 

 
i. The email received after placing the order with the form attached or 
ii. The order located in the ‘My Applications’ section of the dashboard. 

 
(b) All persons on the account sign the form to approve the order. 

 
(c) The user uploads the signed form to the order located in the ‘My Applications’ section of the 

dashboard. 
 
 
 
3. STEP 3: ORDER FUNDING PROCESS  
 

(a) To fund the order, you are required to electronically transferring the order total into the 
funding account created for you. 

(b) To view your funding account details, go to the ‘Profile’ screen then select the ‘Funding 
Account’ tab. 

(c) Electronically transfer the order total to the account via ACH, RTGS or international 
wire transfers only. The amount received in the account must be sufficient to cover the 
order total after any applicable fees associated with completing the transfer are 
deducted. 

 
 
Interested Applicants who do not have a stock brokerage account or do not have a JMMB account may call 
JMMB’s Client Care Centre at 876-998-JMMB (5662), between the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 4:30 p.m. for 
assistance in opening a stock brokerage account or a JMMB account. Interested Applicants may also open 
a JMMB account online at https://jm.jmmb.com/account-opening-personal. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

https://jm.jmmb.com/account-opening-personal
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Appendix 4 – Auditor’s Consent 
 
 
 

[SEE NEXT PAGE] 
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